

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Factors Associated with Help-Seeking Behaviors Among Persons with Serious Psychological Distress

Minn A. Oh Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Psychiatric and Mental Health Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Professions

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Minn A. Oh

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Aaron Mendelsohn, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Stephanie Hsieh, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Simone Salandy, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

Factors Associated with Help-Seeking Behaviors Among Persons with Serious

Psychological Distress

by

Minn A. Oh

MPH, University of Southern California, 2014

BA, University of California, Berkeley, 2012

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

October 2021

Abstract

Serious psychological distress (SPD) is an important individual and public health concern, but inconsistent results exist in the literature in terms of help-seeking behaviors and health-related outcomes among persons with SPD. The purpose of this study was to address this issue and understand clinical factors, access and quality of care factors, and sociodemographic factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD using the California Health Interview Survey (CHIS). CHIS data were collected in 2015 as a part of a two-year cycle (2015-2016) and surveyed 42,089 adults. For multivariable analyses, logistic regression analyses were performed. Participants with chronic health conditions had nearly twice the odds of having had a doctor visit compared to those who did not (adjusted odds ratio [aOR] 1.94, 95% confidence interval [CI] [1.08, 3.48], p =0.03). Those with a general health condition had lower odds of delaying care (aOR 0.72, 95% CI [0.61, 0.84], p < 0.001). The odds of having a doctor visit among those who had issues with access to healthcare were 2.68 times higher than for those who did not (aOR 2.68, 95% CI [1.38, 5.19], p < 0.004). The odds of forgoing care among those who were not insured were 13% higher than for those that were insured (aOR 1.13, 95% CI [1.04, 1.24], p < 0.005). Females had lower odds than males in terms of delaying care (aOR 0.71, 95% CI [0.51, 0.99], p = 0.04). Compared to White Americans, Asians and African Americans had higher odds of forgoing care (aOR 4.34, 95% CI [1.48-12.76]; aOR 2.80, 95% CI [1.34, 5.86] respectively). To promote positive health outcomes and prevent disease, it is important to devise optimal intervention programs that incorporate factors associated with healthcare seeking decisions for adults with SPD.

Factors Associated with Help-Seeking Behaviors Among Persons with Serious

Psychological Distress

by

Minn A. Oh

PhD, Walden University

MPH, University of Southern California, 2014

BA, University of California, Berkeley, 2012

Proposal Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

October 2021

Dedication

To all who left their motherland to afford opportunities to become multi-cultural, multi-lingual and be better educated. The journey may have had many ups and downs, but your courage and bravery will be thanked by the generations to come. This is for you, appa and umma! Thank you for making that big leap.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my chair, Aaron B. Mendelsohn, PhD, who was endlessly available for any and all questions, and provided such rational guidance throughout the entire process. My methodologist, Stephanie Hsieh, PhD, who provided clear and thoughtful input, and my university research reviewer, Simone Salandy, PhD, who helped and monitored me throughout this project. I thank Stephen Campbell, PhD and Dahanah Sejour, MPH for providing constructive feedback; Simon K. Law, MD PharmD for being my mentor and an inspiration; and, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation for the commitment to strengthen educational opportunities for all Americans. To those who have gone above and beyond to support me, I acknowledge my parents, Hak Cheon Oh, MS and Jung Ran Lee, RN; my parents-in-law, Se Ik Sohn, CEO and Young Oak Choe, BS; my brother and sister-in-law, Hyun Cheol Oh, Esq. and In Hyun Lee, PhD. Finally, I thank my husband, Hyunmin Sohn, PhD, for being my strength and the light of my life. To our children, Yerin, Yejun and Baby #3, for providing me with that indescribable feeling of comfort and love.

st of Tables	.v
st of Figures v	'ii
napter 1: Introduction to the Study	.1
Background	.2
Problem Statement	.4
Purpose of the Study	.4
Research Questions and Hypotheses	.4
Theoretical Framework of the Study	.6
Nature of the Study	.7
Definitions	.7
Assumptions	.8
Scope and Delimitations	.9
Limitations10)
Significance10)
Summary11	
napter 2: Literature Review13	;
Literature Search Strategy14	ŀ
Theoretical Foundation15	;
Historical and Conceptual Background of the SEM16)
Applications of the SEM in Health Research)
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts)

Table of Contents

SPD	20
Prevalence of SPD	23
Pathophysiology of Stress	24
Correlates and Predictors of SPD	25
Factors That Affect Help-Seeking Behavior	26
Clinical Factors and SPD	29
Physical Health Status	30
Mental Health Status	35
Access and Quality of Care Factors, Sociodemographic Factors, and SPD	36
Race/ Ethnicity	42
Summary	44
Chapter 3: Research Method	46
Research Design and Rationale	46
Methodology	47
CHIS Data	47
Population	53
Study Sample	55
Power Analysis	58
Independent Variables	60
Clinical Factors	60
Access and Quality of Care Factors	61
Source of Healthcare	61

Sociodemographic Factors	
Dependent Variables	63
Help-Seeking Behaviors	63
Additional Variables of Interest	65
Variables for Exclusion	65
Variables of Descriptive Statistics Purposes	65
Data Analysis	65
Threats to Validity	68
Protection of Human Subjects	70
Summary	71
Chapter 4: Results	72
Data Collection	73
Time Frame	
Description of Data Collection	
Baseline Descriptive Demographic Characteristics	
Sample Representativeness	74
Results	74
Descriptive Statistics	74
Statistical Assumptions	80
Results for RQ1	80
Results for RQ2-RQ4	81
Results for RQ2	86

Results for RQ3	86
Results for RQ4	
Summary	89
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	91
Interpretation of Findings	92
RQ1	
RQ2- RQ4	
Interpretation of Research Questions to the Theoretical Framework	102
Limitations of the Study	105
Recommendations	106
Implications for Social Change	108
Conclusion	109
References	111

Table 1	California County and County Group Strata Used in the CHIS 2015-16 Sample					
Des	<i>ign</i>	1				
Table 2	Number of Completed CHIS 2015-16 Adult Interviews by Type of Sample and					
Inst	rument	4				
Table 3	2015-2016 CHIS Incentives by Interview Type	4				
Table 4	K6 Scale of SPD	5				
Table 5	Analysis Sample (SPD= K6 scale ≥ 13)	7				
Table 6	Analysis to Determine Number of Subjects for This Study	9				
Table 7	Help-Seeking Behaviors	4				
Table 8	Sociodemographics of Study Participants	5				
Table 9	Clinical Health Status of Study Participants	7				
Table 10	Access and Quality of Care Status of Study Participants	9				
Table 11	Help-Seeking Behaviors of Study Participants	1				
Table 12	2 Factors Associated with Doctor Visit in SPD Patients After Adjusting for					
Pre	dictor Variables (Model 1)82	2				
Table 13	Factors Associated with Forgoing Care in SPD Patients After Adjusting for					
Pre	dictor Variables (Model 2)83	3				
Table 14	Factors Associated with Delaying Care in SPD Patients After Adjusting for					
Pre	dictor Variables (Model 3)	4				

List of rigules	L	ist	of	Fi	gure	es
-----------------	---	-----	----	----	------	----

Figure 1	G*power	Analysis Input		9
----------	---------	----------------	--	---

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

In this chapter, I provide an overview of my research. Although many studies have been conducted to compare help-seeking behaviors and health-related outcomes between those with and without serious psychological distress (SPD), there remains a lack of understanding regarding the factors associated with decisions to seek healthcare made by adults with SPD. SPD is an important individual and public health burden; however, researchers continue to find that a significant number of individuals do not seek professional help. Even though the number of individuals with SPD that receive mental health treatment has increased since the early 1990s, the majority of individuals with SPD remain untreated or undertreated (Krupski et al., 2016; Weissman et al., 2017; Ye et al., 2012).

Weissman et al. (2017) compared adults with SPD to adults without SPD with respect to healthcare access, use of healthcare services, and functional indicators. Adults with SPD were more than three times as likely as those without SPD to have insufficient money to buy medications and healthcare, and were more than twice as likely to experience delays in care compared to those without SPD (Weissman et al., 2017). Weissman et al. (2015) said adults with SPD were more likely to have worse health outcomes such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart disease, and diabetes compared to adults without SPD.

Supportive mental health treatment and targeting adverse health behaviors may be important mechanisms for reducing SPD; however, little is known about how to manage SPD in a way that would mitigate risks. Addressing these problems requires an understanding of both their magnitude and the role of clinical, access and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors so that targeted strategies can be developed to address barriers to quality healthcare and optimize use among those with SPD.

This chapter includes a brief background, research problem, and purpose of the study, research questions and hypotheses, the theoretical foundation, nature of the study with key study variables, and definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitation, limitations, and significance of my work.

Background

Mental illness is a major public health issue in the United States (U.S.). In 2017, approximately 46.6 million Americans over the age of 18 experienced some form of mental illness, with approximately 11.2 million adults having some form of a serious mental illness (Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality [CBHSQ], 2017). SPD includes mental health problems that are severe enough to cause moderate-to-serious impairment that may impact a person's social life and daily functions, as well as require treatment (Mirowsky & Ross, 2002; Pratt, 2007).

Positive mental health and emotional well-being play an important role in a person's overall health status. Ridner (2004) defined SPD as "the unique discomforting, emotional state experienced by an individual in response to a specific stressors or demand that results in harm, either temporary or permanent, to the person" (p. 339). Only onefifth of individuals with SPD received adequate treatment (Bramesfeld et al., 2007; Forman-Hoffman et al., 2014; Kessler et al., 2007; O'Campo et al., 2015; Olfson, 2018). There still is a lack of research regarding factors associated with decisions by adults with SPD to seek healthcare. Stigma and fear of medical establishment negatively affected the use of health services, and SPD was positively associated with fear of having a serious illness and thoughts of mortality (Ye et al., 2012). Weissman et al. (2016) said feeling hopeless was associated with lower odds of visiting a healthcare provider in the previous 6 months.

These findings suggest that most people with SPD do not receive appropriate treatment. There is a lack of studies regarding clinical access and quality of care, as well as sociodemographic factors that may be related to help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD. Targeting adverse health behaviors and supporting mental health treatment may be important mechanisms for reducing SPD, but there still exists a large gap with respect to managing SPD in a way that would mitigate risks. This knowledge is crucial to the development of effective psychological interventions for the population. Accurate information regarding adults with SPD who receive treatment can lead to identifying underserved populations and informing service planning. In order to promote positive health outcomes and prevent disease, it is important to devise optimal intervention programs that consider factors associated with decisions to seek healthcare among adults with SPD. Better understanding the impact of help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD and its association with clinical factors (physical and mental health status), access and quality of care factors (insurance and source of healthcare status), and sociodemographic factors (sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, and English proficiency) is essential for promoting positive health outcomes and preventing disease.

Problem Statement

SPD is an important individual and public health concern, but there is a lack of research on factors associated with decisions to seek healthcare among adults with SPD. Most importantly, inconsistent results exist in the literature in terms of help-seeking behaviors and health-related outcomes between those with and without SPD. Weissman et al. (2017) said adults with SPD were more than three times as likely as those without SPD to have insufficient money to buy medications and healthcare, and were more than twice as likely to experience delays in care compared to those without SPD. Garfield et al. (2011) said adults with SPD were more than twice as likely to have incomes under 133% of the federal poverty level. Pratt (2012) said adults with SPD were more likely to be poor, younger, less educated, and live alone. Leykin et al. (2017) said that even though there are a number of preventive and cost-effective treatments for SPD, over one third of individuals do not respond to treatments. Only 64.9% of adults with SPD and 40.8% of adults with any mental illness received mental health treatment services in the past year (CBHSQ, 2015).

Psychological distress is often conceptualized as unpleasant feelings or emotions that can adversely impact one's level of function (CBHSQ, 2015). There are social, emotional, and economic costs associated with mental health problems. Economic costs of mental health problems to individuals and society include increased absenteeism from work, difficulties in retaining and maintaining employment, and increased costs of health and social services (Dismuke et al., 2011; Glanz et al., 2008; Schuurhuizen et al., 2015; Swartz & Jantz, 2014). Mental health problems affect not only individuals, but can also have an impact on family members and friends; untreated mental disorders can lead to personal distress, prolonged family burden, premature death, and preventable disability (Altamura et al., 2008; Dhingra et al., 2010). Limitations in terms of social and physical activities because of mental health problems can lead to social isolation and other problems. As a result, I seek to understand and examine the relationship between clinical, access and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors as well as help-seeking behaviors to understand how adults with SPD perceive their use of healthcare and seek help.

Purpose of the Study

My purpose is to investigate clinical, access and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD using a quantitative non-experimental analytical approach with secondary data. The independent variables are clinical, access and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors. The dependent variables are help-seeking behaviors for SPD (doctor visits, forgoing care, and delay in care). I aim to provide evidence-informed recommendations regarding feasibility of help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

My research questions and associated hypotheses where applicable were as follows:

RQ1: What are general help-seeking behaviors of individuals with SPD?

RQ2: Are clinical factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

 H_02 : Clinical factors are not significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

 $H_a 2$: Clinical factors are significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

RQ3: Are access and quality of care factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

 H_03 : Access and quality of care factors are not significantly associated with helpseeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

 H_a3 : Access and quality of care factors are significantly associated with helpseeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

RQ4: Are sociodemographic factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

 H_04 : Sociodemographic factors are not significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

 H_a4 : Sociodemographic factors are significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

Theoretical Framework of the Study

Determinants of the origins of specific phenomena must be understood in order to develop proper evidence-based interventions. The social ecological model (SEM) involves complex interplays between individual, relationship, community, and societal factors in terms of determining an individual's behavior and health (Carson, & Janssen, 2012; Glanz et al., 2008). In order to achieve substantial changes in health behaviors, it is fundamental that a combination of both individual level and environmental/policy-level interventions exist (Sallis et al., 2015). Based on these theoretical assumptions, the SEM is an appropriate fit for my research involving understanding the impact of help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD and its association with clinical, access and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors. As such, the SEM can also serve as a preventive model based on recognition of personal, environmental, social, and psychological factors that can facilitate the development of disease or health problems. In Chapter 2, I discuss the framework in greater detail.

Nature of the Study

To explore associations between clinical, access and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors and help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD, I used a quantitative approach that involved archived data from the California Health Interview Survey (CHIS).

I used data from CHIS, a random-digit telephone survey designed to be representative of California's noninstitutionalized population. CHIS 2015 data were collected as part of a two-year cycle (2015-2016) between May 2015 and December 2016. Approximately 50% of adult interviews were conducted with landline phone numbers and 50% with cell phones to reduce potential selection bias.

Definitions

The following terms are important to my work and may have multiple meanings. The definitions I used are : *Access and quality of care factors:* The access and quality of care data include questions around insurance status and source of health care status.

Clinical factors: The clinical data include questions around physical health status and mental health status. Physical health status includes general health condition and chronic health conditions of respondents. Mental health status includes psychiatric/ emotional health conditions.

Help-seeking behavior: Communicating with others to obtain assistance in terms of understanding, advice, information, treatment, and general support in response to a problem or distressing experience (Mechanic, 2002).

Serious psychological distress (SPD): A mental condition that negatively impacts a person's ability to function in daily life (SAMHSA, 2013). It is "the unique discomforting, emotional state experience by an individual in response to a specific stressors or demand that results in harm, either temporarily or permanently, to the person" (Ridner, 2004, p. 339).

Sociodemographic factors: The sociodemographic data include questions around sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, and English proficiency.

Assumptions

My major assumption is individuals with SPD were likely to be experiencing economic decline, to be less educated, and to be more likely to experience a disproportionate share of the burden of poverty and economic loss. A better understanding of these factors may provide crucial information in terms of improving treatment and intervention programs for at-risk and vulnerable populations. Since I used a secondary analysis from an existing external data source, I also assumed that all data downloaded from CHIS were accurate and valid. CHIS is conducted by the UCLA Center for Health Policy Research in collaboration with the California Department of Public Health and the Department of Health Care Services. Because surveys are collected in all 58 in of California to protect and promote the health status of Californians, I assumed they were high quality data that accurately represented California household populations.

I also assumed that respondents answered questions truthfully and to the best of their knowledge. In order to address maximum response rates, CHIS sent an advanced letter in five languages to all landline sampled telephone numbers. For the random digit dialing (RDD) sample, advance letters were mailed to 36.5% of all fielded landline telephone numbers, and 40.7% of all fielded cell telephone numbers. To capture the rich diversity of the California population, interviews were conducted in five languages-English, Spanish, Chinese (Mandarin and Cantonese dialects), Vietnamese, and Korean.

Scope and Delimitations

The goal of the study is to explore clinical, access and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD. It is limited to adult respondents ages 18 and above who live in California, U.S. The external validity of the study is therefore limited to this target population. Surveys were conducted in all 58 counties in California; respondents were chosen at random and the sample is extensive enough to be statistically representative of California's diverse population. Like all surveys, CHIS is prone to bias or error due to nonresponse. To assess this, during the 2007 CHIS, a special survey procedure was conducted in which telephone and in-person interviews were conducted. Estimates for 40 health-related indicators among respondents (who responded to initial requests to conduct the survey over the telephone) and nonrespondents (who only participated after an in-person recruitment visit) were compared and analyzed. Based on preliminary analysis of data from the 2007 CHIS area probability sample in Los Angeles, CHIS estimates did not demonstrate significant bias due to nonresponse.

Limitations

My work had some limitations. First, because CHIS is a cross-sectional survey, I could not address causality. Thus, there is a need for longitudinal research examining help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD. In addition, since this study involves a random-digit telephone survey in which data are self-reported, I might encounter problems involving response bias. A decline in response rates in many population-based surveys may increase the potential for nonresponse bias as well. Also, cellular telephones in households may introduce the potential for noncoverage bias which was addressed by taking approximately 50% of adult interviews from landline phone numbers and 50% from cell phones. Lastly, findings are only generalizable to residents of California and may not apply to persons from other states.

Significance

One of the goals for Healthy People 2030 is to improve access to comprehensive quality healthcare services by achieving health equity and increasing the quality of

healthy lives (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2021). My research will help to fill a gap in understanding by focusing on those with SPD considering medical complexities associated with psychological disease. Those with SPD tend to exhibit poorer patterns of healthcare use (Weissman et al., 2016). Relevant factors must be identified in order to reduce the public health burden of SPD, address disparities, and improve health outcomes. Insights from my study may improve quality of care and life for those living with SPD by studying factors that affect help-seeking behaviors and lead to social change in the form creation and utilization of holistic interventions intended to improve help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

Summary

Although many studies have been conducted to compare help-seeking behaviors and health-related outcomes between those with and without SPD, limited research has considered factors associated with decisions to seek healthcare among adults with SPD. According to Shin (2014), help-seeking behaviors are defined as behaviors to obtain various resources such as advice, information, support, and assistance from family, friends, and professionals. Because SPD is one of the major public health issues in the U.S., as it has been associated with an increased risk of mortality, reducing this association is part of a larger public health goal to increase life expectancy. Delayed or absent help-seeking will increase the risk of more severe health issues, hospitalization, and suicide; thus, it is critical that those with SPD seek help for their conditions to minimize individual and public health burdens of deleterious outcomes associated with SPD. Significant public health information from this study can help guide national and local level efforts aimed at increasing awareness and community knowledge.

In Chapter 2, a detailed review of recent studies regarding help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD is discussed. Evidence shows that there exists a gap in research; thus, my study will extend knowledge in the discipline. Additionally, the SEM is discussed as it was the theoretical framework for this study. In Chapter 3, I explain methods and tests that were used to answer the research questions. In Chapter 4, I report research results, and in Chapter 5, I provide interpretations of results and answer the research questions.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

In this chapter, I provide an overview of relevant literature. There has been increasing recognition of the importance of positive mental health and emotional wellbeing in terms of overall health status. Adults with SPD have less health coverage and worse health outcomes compared to those without SPD (Dickerson et al., 2003; Fogarty et al., 2008). Furthermore, SPD can lead to other diseases such as asthma, cardiovascular disease, and cancer, not only because SPD may be a cause or complication of physical health problems, but also because the existence of comorbid physical and mental health conditions may heighten the burden of illness, or change or complicate the natural history of the disease (Byles et al., 2014; Serrano et al., 2011; Egede, & Dismuke, 2012).

SPD is an important individual and public health burden, but there is a lack of research regarding factors associated with decisions to seek healthcare among adults with SPD. Disumke et al. (2011) said SPD is associated with higher total healthcare expenditures and increased use of health services. Weissman et al. (2016) said adults with SPD are more likely to use expensive outpatient primary care physician (PCP) visits, yet have worse health outcomes compared to adults without SPD. Leykin et al. (2017) said although a number of preventive and cost-effective treatments for SPD are available, over one third of individuals fail to respond to treatments. Untreated mental disorders can cause unnecessary personal distress, prolonged family burdens, preventable disability, and premature death, and are more likely to persist, recur, and increase in severity (Altamura et al., 2008; Dhingra et al., 2010).

These mixed results warrant further understanding and exploration. In particular, I sought to investigate the relationship between clinical (physical health status and mental health status), access and quality of care (insurance status and source of health care status), and sociodemographic factors (sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, and English proficiency), as well as help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD to understand how adults with SPD perceive their use of healthcare and seek help.

In this chapter, I include a review of my literature search strategies, an overview of the SEM, the problem of SPD, including prevalence, correlates and predictors of SPD, and gaps in prior research.

Literature Search Strategy

I conducted a search of English-language publications using the following key terms to identify relevant articles to support current research: *serious psychological distress, Kessler Psychological Distress scale, social ecological model, stressor, stress, distress, mental health, glucocorticoid physiology* and *depression.* Articles for which payment was required were directed to librarians who then helped me obtain those articles. I used PubMed Central and Medline, U.S. National Library of Medicine, JSTOR, and Google Scholar to obtain peer-reviewed literature and articles published from 2011 to 2021. I also used references published before that time period to support key ideas and theories related to help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD, as well as address the theoretical foundation I used to determine factors I investigated.

Theoretical Foundation

I used the SEM as the theoretical foundation for my work. The SEM involve complex interplays between individual, relationship, community, and societal factors (Glanz et al., 2008). Including multiple levels of influence can lead to the development of more comprehensive intervention approaches useful for systematically targeting mechanisms of change .

A combination of both individual level and environmental/policy level interventions is needed to achieve substantial changes in health behaviors. According to the Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion (1986), educating people to make healthy choices when their environments are not supportive will result in weak and short-term effects because there is no guarantee that people will make use of those resources. The SEM is different from other models in that the environmental and policy contexts of behavior are incorporated within social and psychological influences (Bandura, 1986; Cohen et al., 2000; Flay & Petraitis, 1994). For my research, I started with the four critical SEM constructs: individual-level influences that increase the likelihood of people seeking help for their condition, relationship-level influences that affect decisions for or against seeking help, community-level factors such as social environments that influence decisions to seek care, and societal or macro-level factors such as religious beliefs or cultural practices that may influence health action towards or against seeking help for psychological distress. Since significant and dynamic interrelationships exist between these different levels of health determinants, interventions are most likely effective when they address determinants at all levels. Thus, the SEM is appropriate for my research on

understanding the impact of help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD and its association with clinical, access and quality of care factors, and sociodemographic factors.

Historical and Conceptual Background of the SEM

Bronfenbrenner (1977) said development does not take place in a vacuum, but always occurs embedded in and expressed through behavior in a particular environment. Baral et al. (2013) said researchers in social sciences and public health frequently use the SEM to develop strategies, guidelines, and interventions to change behavior mechanisms based on the theory's comprehensive concepts and approaches to behavior change.

Targeting behavior change is an important factor in reducing serious health conditions and preventing health burdens (Baral et al., 2013; Glanz et al., 2008). Thus, effective health behavior interventions are multilevel efforts focused on individuals that exhibit target behaviors and environmental conditions that lead to health behaviors.

Applications of the SEM in Health Research

The SEM has two concepts involving health promotion: behavior affects and is affected by multiple levels of influence (individual-level and environmental/policy-level) and individual behavior shapes and is shaped by the social environment (reciprocal causation). Individuals are not viewed as isolated from larger social units in which they live their lives in terms of creation of environmental conditions that support and promote effective and sustainable behavior change (Glanz et al., 2008). The SEM has been adopted by researchers investigating many health behaviors, as they provide useful frameworks for achieving a better understanding of factors and barriers that impact helpseeking behavior.

Shih et al. (2008) said finding a direct correlation between SPD and a decreased health-related quality of life (HRQOL); they used the results of their logistic regression analysis to inform policymaking and health promotion efforts intended to improve quality of life for persons with mental illness. After adjusting for standard covariates (sex, race, age, income, employment, marital status, and number of chronic conditions), adults with SPD were more than twice as likely to report fair or poor health than were adults without SPD (Shih et al., 2008). Their results emphasized the importance of recognizing and addressing mental health issues in persons with and without chronic conditions. Since persons with chronic diseases are more likely to see a primary health care provider for periodic monitoring and follow-up, there is a need for health care providers to provide improved screening, as well as comprehensive treatment approaches that jointly manages physical and mental health. One advantage of the use of SEM in such research is that it simultaneously focuses on multiple levels of influence which permits broadening of the options for effective interventions.

Rai et al. (2012) conducted a prospective cohort study using the Swedish health and administrative registries, and found that even mild psychological distress was associated with later onset of long-term disability, which in turn may worsen into an appreciable psychiatric disorder. Employing the SEM, they suggested that the use of dimensional measures when standardizing clinical and treatment decisions for common mental disorders was more effective, especially for people with symptoms below established thresholds (Rai, et al., 2012). Reducing milder forms of psychological distress in the population thus will reduce the disability burden, improve health outcomes and generate a significant societal savings.

I developed a SEM that considers multiple levels of influence on the help-seeking behavior of adults with SPD, as well as the interaction between these levels. According to the SEM, intra- and interpersonal factors operate within multiple ecological systems to influence help-seeking behavior (Glanz et al., 2008). These factors include those within the individual system. For my research, I start with the four critical SEM constructs: individual-level influences that increase the likelihood of people seeking help for their condition, relationship-level influences that can affect the decision for or against seeking help, community-level factors such as social environments that may influence the decision to seek care, and societal or macro-level factors such as religious beliefs or cultural practices that may influence health action towards or against seeking help for their psychological distress. These social ecologies are interconnected in their relationships within an individual's psychological well-being. Including variables related to multiple social systems in the same analysis allows me to explore how they may be inter-related (Guo, Hopson, & Yang, 2018). The predictors of individuals with SPD and their help-seeking behavior (doctor visits, forgoing care, and delay in care) that I analyzed include clinical factors (physical health status and mental health status), access and quality of care factors (insurance status and source of health care status), and sociodemographic factors (sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, and English proficiency).

An SEM of help-seeking behavior among individuals with SPD provides a potentially comprehensive framework for organizing risk and protective factor knowledge. Delivery of a multi-level approach can provide a framework to understand how upper level factors may moderate the influence of lower level factors, and vice versa. The first level identifies individual-level influences that may increase or decrease help-seeking behavior among individuals with SPD. Within the clinical factors, these are physical health status of the respondent which examines the general health condition and chronic health condition. Within the access and quality of care factors, it is the insurance status of the respondent, specifically whether he/she was uninsured in past 12 months. Within the sociodemographic factors, sex, race, age, marital status, economic status, education, and English proficiency of the respondent were examined. The second level examines close relationships that may affect the help-seeking behavior of individuals with SPD. Within the clinical factors, mental health status of the respondent, specifically his or her psychiatric and emotional health condition were looked at since a person's closest social circle-peers, partners and family members influence his or her behavior. The third level explores the settings, in which social relationships occur and seeks to identify the characteristics of these settings that are associated with seeking help. Within the access and quality of care factors, it is the source of health care of the respondent, specifically his or her source and difficulty of health care access. The fourth level looks at the broad societal factors that help create a climate in which the help-seeking behavior is encouraged or inhibited. Within the access and quality of care factors, it is the insurance status of the respondent, specifically whether the insurance covers mental health visits.

An understanding of which factors are related to help-seeking behaviors among those with SPD may be useful in designing targeted strategies for optimizing utilization and addressing the barriers to quality healthcare among those with SPD. Although the model contextualizes individuals' behaviors using dimensions such as intrapersonal, community and public policy to provide a framework for describing the interactions between these levels, no one model can describe all risk factors across these diverse domains. For example, the higher order social and structural levels (e.g. community, policy) represent factors outside of the control of any individual person. And even though policy makers tend to target interventions at individual level, they are only one component affecting the marginalized population (Baral et al, 2013; Wellings et al., 2006). It is, therefore, important to note that factors can span levels and therefore the boundaries between levels may be understood as porous rather than distinct.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts

SPD

Positive mental health and emotional well-being play a crucial role in a person's overall health status. Ridner (2004,) defined SPD as "the unique discomforting, emotional state experienced by an individual in response to a specific stressors or demand that results in harm, either temporary or permanent, to the person" (p. 339). Mirowsky and Ross (2002) said SPD as a nonspecific mental health problem that may impact a person's social life and daily functions. Numerous researchers have shown how human exposure to stressors, such as acute and chronic life events, stressful events, and

persisting negative social and environmental conditions, affects health outcomes (Horwitz, 2017; Pearlin, 1989).

Mental health professionals have mixed opinions regarding whether psychological distress is a temporary state or a symptom of a mental disorder (Horwitz, 2017; Mulder, 2008; Wakefield, Schmitz, First, & Horwitz, 2007; Wheaton, 2007). Horwitz (2017) argued that psychological distress is a normal response to stress that resolves when the person adapts to the stressor or the stressor is removed. Mulder (2011) and O'Campo, Wheaton, Nisenbaum, Glazier, Dunn, and Chambers (2015) argued that psychological distress is an underlying marker of depression and anxiety. Psychological distress is a state of emotional suffering represented by depression (e.g., helplessness, sadness, lost interest in daily activities, feeling tired, and hopelessness) and anxiety (e.g., restlessness, difficulty concentrating, and feeling tense). Although both the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-V) and the International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision, Clinical Modifications (ICD-10-CM) use psychological distress as an individual symptom, as a qualifier of other symptoms, and as an indicator of severity, inconsistencies exist between the two systems in their use of psychological distress for diagnosis of specific mental disorders. For example, psychological distress is not mentioned as a criterion for somatoform disorder in the DSM-V, but is defined as a "persistent distress" (p. 127) that contributes to repeated care-seeking behavior among persons with somatoform disorder in the ICD-10-CM. Also, psychological distress is included in the determination of depressive disorder severity in the DSM-V, but is not an indicator of the severity of depressive disorder in the ICD-10-CM. Despite the

discrepancies between DSM-V and ICD-10-CM's operationalization of psychological distress, the inclusion of distress as a diagnostic criterion by both systems show its clinical relevance to mental health.

Reports from the literature indicate that adults with SPD are less likely to have health coverage and more likely to have worse health outcomes compared to those without SPD (Dickerson et al., 2003; Fogarty, Sharma, Chetty, & Culpepper, 2008). Pratt, Dey, and Cohen (2007) found that adults with SPD do not routinely see physicians despite the high correlation between SPD and mental health. Using data from the 2009-2013 National Health Interview Survey, Weissman, Pratt, Miller, and Parker (2015) found that adults with SPD were more likely to have worse health outcomes such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart disease, and diabetes compared to adults without SPD. Gill, Butterworth, Rodgers, and Mackinnon (2007) found that SPD increases the risk for psychiatric disorders, which can negatively impact a person's overall health and quality of life. In addition, according to Villena and Chesla (2010), individuals with SPD present formidable challenges to the traditional primary care system because they tend to perceive the system as insensitive and unresponsive to their needs.

The CBHSQ (2017) found that approximately 46.6 million Americans over the age of 18 have experienced some form of mental illness in the past year. Furthermore, approximately 11.2 million adults have some form of mental illness in the U.S. (CBHSQ, 2015). Christensen, Vestergaard, Mortensen, Sidenius, and Agerbo (2007) have also found that adults with SPD may struggle to detect changes in their health, and have

diminished judgment about their medical condition and whether to seek help. Since mental illness is a major public health issues in the U.S. and has been associated with an increased risk of mortality, reducing this association is part of a larger public health goal to increase life expectancy (Krupski et al., 2016; Lanove et al., 2016).

Prevalence of SPD

Prior research also indicates that those with SPD tend to exhibit inadequate patterns of health care utilization (Weissman et al., 2016). The health care utilization indicators Weissman and colleagues used included visiting a doctor or health care provider 10 times or more in the last 12 months, having seen or talked to a health care professional in the last six months, having seen a mental health provider in the last 12 months, changing the health care location, and changing the health care location for a reason related to health care.

Weissman, Russell, Jay, Beasley, Malaspina, and Pegus (2017) compared adults with SPD to adults without SPD with respect to health care access, utilization of health care services, and functional indicators. Adults with SPD were more than three times as likely as those without SPD to have insufficient money to buy medications, to have insufficient money for healthcare, and were more than twice as likely to experience delays in care compared to those without SPD (Weissman et al., 2017). The study done by Weissman and colleagues is similar to the report published by Garfield, Zuvekas, Lave, and Donohue (2011) which indicates that adults with SPD are more likely to be uninsured. Garfield et al. (2011) also found that adults with SPD were more than twice as likely as their counterparts without SPD to have incomes under 133% of the federal
poverty level (40.7%, 95% CI (38.7%, 42.7%) and 17.7%, 95% CI (16.8%, 18.6%), respectively; p<0.001). Both studies used national data thus were able to report health care patterns and utilizations generalizable to the U.S. adult population and to suggest the importance of expanding health insurance coverage to individuals with SPD.

Pathophysiology of Stress

Almost any type of threat to homeostasis or increase in stress will cause plasma glucocorticoid levels to rise (Munck, Guyre, & Holbrook, 1984). The mammalian brain is responsible for the physiological functioning of the body's organs. The autonomic nervous system spreads throughout the body via two distinct branches: the sympathetic and the parasympathetic nervous system (Norman, & Ryrie, 2013). The sympathetic system releases the hormones adrenaline and noradrenaline, which act to increase a person's attention to threats, increase their heart rate and prompt them to consider a fight or flight response (Norman et al., 2013). Glucocorticoids, the adrenal steroids secreted during stress, play a critical role in the organism's adaptation to acute physical stressors (Joseph, & Whirledge, 2017). The hypothalamic-pituitary circuit is largely regulated through negative feedback controls to maintain relatively stable levels of plasma glucocorticoids (Pathway Medicine, 2017). The parasympathetic system, on the other hand, releases acetylcholine, which induces relaxation, slows the heart rate and generates calm (Norman et al., 2013).

Glucocorticoids regulate biological processes including immune function, skeletal growth, reproduction, cognition, behavior, and cell proliferation and survival (Barnes, 1998; Sapolsky, Romero, & Munck, 2000; Oakley, & Cidlowki, 2013). Due to their potent anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressant actions, glucocorticoids are frequently used in clinical applications and in over-the-counter medications; an estimated 1.2 percent of the U.S. population, approximately 3.6 million people, uses therapeutic glucocorticoids (Joseph et al., 2017; Overman, Yeh, & Deal, 2013).

Correlates and Predictors of SPD

In addition to hormones released during stress, an individual's ability to cope with exposure to stress may depend on clinical factors, access and quality of care factors, and sociodemographic factors that individualize the stress experience (i.e., vulnerability to stress).

Mojtabai et al. (2002) said there are multiple stages: individuals experience warning signs and try to evaluate the significance and the likely consequences; individuals then determine whether they have a problem that requires intervention and whether or not they will benefit from treatment; individuals then evaluate the benefits and costs of various treatments and choose which healthcare provider to consult. Therefore, a key to deciding whether to seek help is the perception of need.

Previous studies have found that many who have mental health problems do not think they need treatment because they believe the symptoms are temporary and not serious (Krupski et al., 2016; Mojtabai et al., 2002; Dismuke, & Egede, 2011; Glanz et al., 2008; Schuurhuizen et al., 2015; Swartz, & Jantz, 2014; Weissman et al., 2017). Alternatively, individuals may not perceive a need to seek help because they do not know what kind of help is available, they do not recognize the problem as a mental health problem, believe that treatment will not help, do not know what appropriate help is available, are embarrassed about seeking help, and/or fear stigmatization (Weissman et al., 2017). As a result, perceived need is influenced by the social context and the decisions people make in response to symptoms. Understanding how perceived need for professional help relates to different variables helps structure programs that lead to appropriate care for those who need it most (Forman-Hoffman et al., 2014; Weissman et al., 2017).

Factors That Affect Help-Seeking Behavior

Researchers have found that various factors affect help-seeking behavior (Magaard, Seeralan, Schulz, & Brutt, 2017; Rickwood, Mazzer, & Telford, 2015; Schnyder et al., 2017). Perceived needs are one of the most significant variables influencing help-seeking. People seek help to solve their problems, therefore, having awareness of perceived needs significantly affects the decision of whether or not to seek help (Gross, & McMullen, 1983; Magaard et al., 2017). The help-seeking model states that the decision to seek help is dependent on recognition of the problem and overcoming psychological and social barriers that hinder the help-seeking process (Gross et al., 1983; Magaard et al., 2017). Seeking help is a complex process with multiple decision points, and at each point, a range of factors can accelerate or regress progress. For example, some of the major barriers that affect help-seeking behaviors include negative attitudes, poor mental health literacy and low perceived need (Bonabi et al., 2016) Recent systematic reviews have indicated that mental illness stigma is a key barrier to helpseeking because public and self-stigma create embarrassment about help-seeking as well as a fear of being labeled as mentally ill (Clement et al., 2015; Schnyder et al., 2017).

Social support is another factor that affects help-seeking. If a person wishes to seek help, it is important to find someone who can provide sufficient help. As people are likely to seek help from someone in their social networks, those with larger support networks report greater intentions to seek help (Rickwood, Mazzer, & Telford, 2015). Seeking informal help is generally a first step that precedes professional service use, and the informal network of family and friends is, therefore, critical in the help-seeking process (Rickwood et al., 2015; Ryan & Shim, 2012).

Comorbidity was positively related to help-seeking behavior in studies conducted by Gagnes, Vasliladis, and Preville (2014) as well as Maggard and her colleagues (2017). It may be that existence of comorbid physical and mental health conditions allow for previous help-seeking experience with medical providers that may lead to fewer barriers to seeking help for people, especially if the experience has been a successful one. Alhussain et al. (2017), on the other hand, examined the relationship between SPD and ER use among adults with multimorbidity. Adults with multimorbidity and SPD were more likely to use the ER compared to adults with multimorbidity and no SPD. This is consistent with previous studies indicating that SPD is positively associated with ER use among general population (Alhussain et al., 2017; Lin, Burgess, & Carey, 2012; Stockbridge, Wilson, & Pagan, 2014). Lack of mental health-related treatment can lead to ER use and the researchers showed that adults with SPD were more likely to avoid visiting a doctor due to the fear of having a serious disease, which may lead to complications that require ER care (Alhussain et al., 2017). Given that treatment of chronic conditions in the ER is very expensive in the United States (Caldwell,

Srebotnjak, Wang, & Hsia, 2013), there is a need to develop health policy programs targeting those with SPD and their help-seeking behavior.

Sociodemographic factors are also commonly assessed in help-seeking studies, including sex, race, age, education, ethnicity, and income level. A consistent finding in the literature is that females have a more positive attitude towards seeking psychological help than males (Koydemir-Ozden, & Erel, 2010; Nam et al., 2013; Rose, & Rudolph, 2006). Nam and colleagues performed a meta-analysis to examine gender differences in attitudes toward professional psychological help among Caucasians, Asian-Americans, and Asians. They found that women showed more favorable attitudes than men across all ethnic groups (Nam et al., 2013). Tamres, Janicki, and Helgeson (2002) performed a meta-analysis of gender differences in coping behavior and reported similar results: women seek social support more frequently than men. Researchers have also shown that the coping strategies used to deal with a particular stressor tend to change as one matures and ages, partly a result of the increased level of knowledge about mental health resources among older individuals, as well as their developed coping strategies (Koydemir-Ozden et al., 2010). The studies also indicated African Americans, Mexican Americans, and other ethnic minorities have lower rates of seeking help compared to Whites (Gonzalez, Vega, Williams, Tarraf, West, & Neighbors, 2010; Hankerson, Fenton, Geier, Keyes, Weissman, & Hasin, 2011). The majority of studies indicated no association between income and help-seeking behavior. A possible explanation for this finding might be that income as an indicator is not sensitive enough to detect socioeconomic differences in the use of health care services (Allin, Masseria, &

Mossialos, 2009; Magaard et al., 2017). Regardless, accounting for the financing of health care systems and understanding access and quality of care factors is necessary to interpret these associations (Andersen, 2008).

While perceived needs, social support, and sociodemographic factors facilitate help-seeking, depressive symptoms have been considered to inhibit help-seeking. As some components of SPD symptoms, such as feelings of hopelessness and worthlessness, reduce the motivation to cope with problems, those with more depressive symptoms are less likely to seek help (Boerema, Kleiboer, Beekman, van Zoonen, Dijkshoorn, & Cuijpers, 2016; Nagai, 2012; Schomerus, & Angermeyer, 2008). Indeed, Nagai (2012) reported that depressive symptoms are negatively related to intentions to seek help from family and friends.

It is important to evaluate different factors that affect help-seeking behavior in order to provide an evidence-informed recommendation on the feasibility and the potential content for help-seeking behavior among individuals with SPD. I examined the relationship between clinical factors (physical health status and mental health status), access and quality of care factors (insurance status and source of health care status), sociodemographic factors (sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, and English proficiency), and help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD.

Clinical Factors and SPD

Information regarding the extent of distress may help medical providers plan ways to effectively provide people with coping strategies to overcome the distress and to implement a wide range of alternative community supports. My results obtained from this dimensional approach to mental health may help medical providers check for signs of an underlying medical condition that may need treatment.

Physical Health Status

Comorbidities can greatly affect how some people react to primary diseases, which can worsen the symptoms of mental diseases. Although the mechanisms underlying the comorbid association between physical disease and SPD is still unclear, it is important to understand the existence of these associations. Klein and Schoenborn (2010) showed that medical conditions such as asthma, bronchitis, chronic respiratory disorders, and other pre-existing illnesses have profound effects on the rate and severity of mental illnesses. The presence of depressive disorders often adversely affects the course of chronic disease and complicates its treatment. It is important to remember that untreated depressive disorders characteristically assume a chronic course, thereby adding to the burden of chronic disease (Keller et al., 1998). In fact, Dismuke et al. (2011) reported that the prevalence of SPD was estimated to be approximately 2.1-4.0% in the general US population and to be much higher in individuals with diabetes, arthritis, epilepsy, asthma, cardiovascular conditions, disabilities, or a BMI below or above the normal range. The existence of comorbid physical and mental health conditions may complicate the physical health problems, as well as exacerbate the burden of illness, alter the natural history of the comorbid conditions, and complicate the management of both conditions (Byles et al., 2013; Serrano, Setani, Sakamoto, Andrei, & Fraguas, 2011; Egede, & Dismuke, 2012).

The presence of SPD among persons with asthma has been associated with poorer asthma outcomes, such as impaired voluntary activation of the diaphragm (Chapman, Perry, & Strine, 2005; Mancuso, Rincon, McCulloch, & Charlson, 2001). In particular, persons with asthma who experience disruptive symptoms, such as dyspnea and nighttime awakening, are at increased risk for major depression (Goldney, Ruffin, fisher, & Wilson, 2003). Oraka, Kim, King, and Callahan (2012) analyzed data from 186,738 adults respondents from the 2001-2007 US National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) to understand the prevalence and risk factors for SPD, and their relationship to healthrelated quality of life (HRQOL) among adults with asthma in the US. Oraka et al. (2012) found that the prevalence of SPD among adults with asthma (7.5%) was more than double that of the overall US population (3.0%) and adults without asthma (2.6%) while the prevalence of reporting three or more health-related comorbidities was significantly higher in adults with asthma (21.5%) than adults without asthma (8.4%). Adults with asthma had consistently worse indicators of HRQOL and SPD with the proportion of SPD being higher among adults with asthma who reported current smoking (AOR 2.4; 95% CI, 1.9-2.9), obesity, former alcohol use, or having three or more comorbid health conditions (AOR, 3.9; 95% CI, 2.8-5.3). Adults with SPD and adults with both asthma and SPD had 4.6 (95% CI, 4.2-5.0) and 6.6 (95% CI, 5.4-8.0) times the odds of reporting fair/poor health compared with adults with neither condition (Oraka et al. 2012).

Schuuhuizen et al. (2018) and Karunanithi, Sagar, Joy, and Vedasoundaram (2018) examined patients with cancer for evidence of SPD. Previous studies indicated that, although the majority of patients have the ability to cope with the psychological burden resulting from hearing the diagnosis, the disease or its treatment, precise estimates vary with different types and sites of cancer. For example, 30-40% of patients receiving cancer care experienced psychological symptoms of distress, such as depression and anxiety (Zabora, Brintzenhofeszoc, Curbow, Hooker, & Piantadosi, 2001; Mitchell et al., 2011). Karunanithi et al. (2018) evaluated the level of SPD and social functioning in cancer patients in addition to multimodality cancer-directed therapy to attempt to improve their quality of life. A total of 251 patients completed the questionnaire; the researchers found that improvement in quality of life for these cancer patients was not possible by cancer treatment alone but by alleviating the distress associated with the disease. For example, a study in ovarian cancer patients indicated that social support is related to lower levels of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in both serum and tumor tissue (Costanzo, Lutgendorf, Sood, Anderson, Sorosky, & Lubaroff, 2005). According to Lutgendorf, Sood, and Antoni (2010), studies have indicated that psychosocial stress has a role in cancer progression through its impact on mechanisms of immune regulation, angiogenesis, and invasion; those with poor social support expressed higher levels of IL-6 which is an angiogenic factor produced by tumor cells that disrupts the equilibrium between pro- and anti-angiogenic factors. Analysis of the data from a survey by the National Office of Suicide Prevention indicated that most people recognized that talking to family and friends was helpful with their mental health and that supportive family and friend networks had a positive effect on mental health and wellbeing (Health Service Executive, 2017). This shows that family and friends are perceived as important supports for SPD patients, as well as that of health professionals,

and demonstrates the importance of both chronic disease and SPD to the health of individuals and communities.

As a result, Schuuhuizen et al. (2018) chose a stepped care intervention approach, in which patients start with the least intensive treatment that is most likely to work, with more intensive and costly interventions reserved for those insufficiently helped by the initial steps. They focused on the cost-effectiveness of screening and treatment of SPD in mCRC (metastatic colorectal cancer) patients specifically to prevent influences from different types of cancer on the outcome. They developed an approach which involved evidence-based *T*argeted selection and *E*nhanced *S*tepped care (TES trial), in which they looked at psychotherapeutic and pharmacotherpaeutic implementations, and compared these with usual care in reducing SPD in patients with mCRC (Schuuhuizen et al., 2018).

Among adults with comorbidity, 5.8% had SPD and 94.2% did not (Alhussain et al., 2017). More than half of adults with comorbidity and SPD used the emergency room (ER) in the past 12 months, and nearly a quarter of adults with comorbidity and no SPD used the ER in the past 12 months. Nearly all adults with comorbidity and SPD (92%) had functional limitations, whereas 61.3% of those with comorbidity and no SPD had functional limitations (Alhussain et al., 2017). This seems to indicate that, while many people may seek help from general practitioners, counselors, and support groups, significant numbers do not access formal help in the face of SPD.

Rai, Kosidou, Lundberg, Araya, Lewis and Magnusson (2012) found that even mild psychological distress was associated with later onset of long-term disability. They investigated the association between increasing levels of psychological distress and the 5year probability of long-term disability pension awards for somatic or psychiatric conditions using a longitudinal population-based dataset compiled from several Swedish health and administration registries. The study population included 17,205 individuals with more than half of whom reported no psychological distress at baseline. However after adjusting for potential confounders, Rai and colleagues found a graded positive association between levels of SPD and receipt of disability pension consistent with the few longitudinal population-based studies reporting on the short-term disability associated with SPD, and its relationship to societal costs (Rai et al., 2012; Rai, Skapinakis, Wiles, Lewis, & Araya, 2010).

Finally, Shih and Simon (2008) found that the prevalence of SPD is higher among adults with chronic conditions than those without and increased with the number of comorbid chronic conditions. This is a significant finding since chronic medical conditions are common and often co-occur. Persons with asthma, diabetes, hypertension, and/or heart disease have been demonstrated to have higher rates of depression, depressive symptoms, and/or psychological distress (McVeigh, Mostashari, & Thorpe, 2004; Mykletun, Bjerkeset, Dewey, Prince, Overland, & Stewart, 2007; Shih et al., 2008). With a growing amount of evidence from prospective studies linking SPD to the increased incidence of chronic diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, and heart disease, it is important to consider that failure to screen and treat mental health disorders may contribute to higher rates of some chronic diseases.

Mental Health Status

SPD is a predictor of the quality of life and has a synergistic effect on health status (Oraka et al., 2010; Pratt et al., 2007; Shih et al., 2008; Weissman et al., 2017). Chiu, Amartey, Wang and Kurdyak (2018) conducted a large cohort study using valid measures of psychological distress and depression using data from the Canadian Community Health Survey on Mental Health and Well Being, Cycle 1.2. Compared to the referent group, those with SPD were more likely to be smokers, have anxiety disorders and less likely to be physically active (Chiu et al., 2018). The leading cause of death was diseases of the circulatory system for those with SPD and neoplasms for the reference group. Those with SPD also had a greater proportion of deaths due to mental health and addictions, external causes of injury and respiratory illnesses compared to the referent group (Chiu et al., 2018). Similar findings from a population-based cohort study and meta-analysis indicate an increased risk of mortality for those with SPD (Pratt, 2009; Russ et al., 2012).

Forman-Hoffman et al. (2014) linked NHIS data from 1997 to 2004 to death certificate data from the 1997 to 2006 National Death Index (NDI). They analyzed data from of 238,811 adults, of whom they identified 16,568 as having died during the period between the NHIS interview and December 31, 2006. The results indicated that SPD contributed to premature death in the U.S. population when not taking into consideration sociodemographic risk factors and co-occurring physical and behavioral health factors (Forman-Hoffman et al., 2014). When comparing a mean years of potential life lost (YPLL) among adults aged 18 or older who met criteria for SPD, those who died during the follow-up period had 17.9 mean YPLL, which was significantly higher than the 14.1 mean YPLL for deceased persons who did not have SPD (Forman-Hoffman et al., 2014). Forman-Hoffman and her colleagues also looked at different age groups and analyzed those with SPD and without SPD to conclude that those who had a K6 score of 11 or greater in adults aged 18 to 34 were 1.94 times more likely to die when compared to those in the same age group with no SPD after adjusting for covariates. When looking at adults aged 35 to 54 and those aged 55 or older, all levels of distress whether a K6 score of 1 to 9 (low), 10 to 12 (moderate) or 13 to 24 (high) were associated with an increased adjusted risk of death when compared with adults with no distress, confirming other reports from the literature that there is a robust association between SPD and death even after adjusting for factors including smoking and chronic health conditions (Forman-Hoffman et al., 2014; Tanji et al., 2017).

Access and Quality of Care Factors, Sociodemographic Factors, and SPD

Access and quality of care factors considered in the study include insurance status and source of health care of the respondent. Sociodemographic characteristics include sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, and English proficiency. I defined SPD as a score of ≥ 13 on the K6 which asks about the frequency of each of the following six symptoms: so sad that nothing could cheer you up, nervous, restless or fidgety, hopeless, that everything was an effort, worthless. Possible responses included the following: all of the time (score of 4); most of the time (score of 3); some of the time (score of 2); a little of the time (score of 1); and, none of the time (score of 0). Total possible score ranged from 0 to 24 (Kessler et al., 2003). The K6 has been shown to significantly outperform the widely used 12-question General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12) in screening for ICD-10 disorders. The correlation between the K10 and K6 was almost perfect (r=0.97) and the Cronbach α (a measure of internal consistency reliability) was high at 0.89 for the K6 (Kessler et al., 2003). The area under the receiver operating curve (ROC) for the K6 was 0.86, higher than that for the K10, indicating that the K6 is very good at discriminating between respondents with SPD and those without SPD. The K6 has been found to have 36% sensitivity and 96% specificity for identifying SPD (Kessler et al., 2003).

Pratt et al. (2007) used the 2001-2004 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) to describe the characteristics of adults with K6-measured SPD. The NHIS is a complex, stratified sample survey designed to provide estimates for the civilian non-institutionalized population of the United States, with interviews obtained from a total of 123,610 person 18 years of age and older living in the community (Pratt et al., 2007). When examining all age groups except persons 65-74 years of age, the 1-month prevalence rate of SPD was higher in women (3.9%) than men (2.4%). Pratt et al. (2007) also found that in regards to education, adults with SPD were more likely to have less than a high school education (34%) than adults without SPD (17%) which may explain lower income per year with 44% of persons with SPD having a family income of less than \$20,000 per year while 20% of persons without SPD had this level of income. Persons with SPD were twice as likely to be divorced (24% versus 12%) and less likely to live with other family members when compared to persons without SPD (Pratt et al., 2007).

To examine the trend in years, Pratt used the 2007 NHIS sample to compare her results to those she obtained from the 2001-2004 samples. The findings were congruent in that adults with SPD were younger, less educated, more likely to be poor and more likely to live alone. More than one-quarter of adults with SPD received food stamps, compared with 4% of other adults. They were more likely than other adults to receive SSDI (Social Security Disability Insurance), other disability benefits, and SSI (Supplemental Security Income), in which fifty-three percent participated in at least one of the six programs examined (Pratt, 2012). However, the prevalence rate of SPD was higher in men than women, which is a finding different than that obtained from the 2001-2004 data. Adults with and without SPD were equally likely to have health insurance, but adults with SPD were more likely to have public insurance (Pratt, 2012). Both years' results are congruent in that persons with SPD were much more likely to forgo needed healthcare due to cost. Adults with SPD were more likely than other adults to report being unable to afford needed prescription medication, mental health treatment, and dental care (Pratt et al., 2007; Pratt, 2012).

Weissman et al. (2016) examined the characteristics of SPD using the same survey, NHIS, as Pratt, but investigated different years, 2006-2014. Combining multiple survey years allowed for adequate sample size and provided greater statistical power resulting in an analytic sample of 9,271 adults with SPD for a weighted sample of 10,862,999 adults with SPD nationwide (Weissman et al., 2016). The study by Weissman and her colleagues showed that men were more likely to feel sad and restless than women. When comparing adults with SPD in the lowest poverty index ratio (PIR) group to those with incomes above the federal poverty level (FPL), there was a statistical significance that those in the lowest PIR group were more likely to report feeling exhausted, worthless, without hope, nervous, and restless (Weissman et al., 2016).

Using the indicators for the K6 scale, Weissman et al. (2016) also found that feeling hopeless was associated with lower odds of visiting a healthcare provider in the last 6 months (OR = .69; 95% CI=.58-.81) and a lower likelihood of seeing a doctor or healthcare provider at least 10 times in the last 12 months (OR=.83; 95% CI=.72-.95). Feeling exhausted was associated with a greater likelihood of seeing a healthcare provider in the last six months (OR = 1.2; 95% CI=1.0-1.4) and was also associated with a greater likelihood of seeing a doctor at least 10 times in the last 12 months (OR= 1.6; 95% CI= 1.4-1.8). Women with SPD were more odds than men with SPD to change their usual place of care (OR = 1.3; 95% CI= 1.1- 1.5) (Weissman et al., 2016).

Alhussain, Meraya and Sambamoorthi (2017) also used NHIS, but employed a sample from a year after Weissman's study (the 2015 sample) to examine the association between SPD and ER use. They found that 31.7% of adults with comorbidity and SPD had poor income. In contrast, about 10% of adults with comorbidity and no SPD had poor income. Statistically significant differences were also observed between adults with and without SPD in sex, age, race/ethnicity, marital status, education level, health insurance, smoking status, alcohol use, and physical activity (Alhussain et al., 2017).

Similar to the findings by Pratt et al (2007), Alhussain et al (2017) found that psychological distress and mental health problems were higher in the middle age group, i.e. 50-64 years, and less evident in the youngest and oldest age groups. A higher point prevalence of SPD in females stayed constant across all groups except for in the middle age group (50-64 years). Within the middle age group, the point prevalence of SPD was higher in males than females which raises interesting research question on susceptibility of psychological distress to men in their 50-64 years in age and the reasons behind this phenomenon (Alhussain et al., 2017). In line with previous research findings, those who were separated, widowed or divorced exhibited the greatest point prevalence of psychological distress and mental health problems in the previous year (Wade, Hart, Wade, Bajaj, & Price, 2013). However, marital status appeared to have a different impact across sex. 5.6% of males that were divorced and 7.8% of males that were separated had a high K6 scale score, while on the other hand, 57.5% of females that were divorced and 28.5% of females that were separated had a high K6 scale score; for males, being married or cohabiting resulted in a higher proportion of K6 scale scores.

Dhingra et al. (2010) used the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) in 2007 to examine correlates and predictors of receipt of treatment for SPD. When not taking into consideration the annual household income level, health insurance status, and frequency of receipt of emotional support, those aged 18 to 34 years, men, persons currently married, and those with at least some college education were less likely to receive treatment. Dhingra and his colleagues found that the highest level of the evaluated need, SPD, was the factor most strongly associated with treatment (OR=5.19). Evaluated need attenuated the association between treatment and persons receiving

emotional support only sometimes or rarely and those reporting seven to 30 mentally unhealthy days (Dhingra et al., 2010).

In relation to socioeconomic factors, those who had a higher level of education, a higher weekly income and who were employed were least likely to be distressed or to have reported mental health problems in the previous year, suggesting that inequalities in education, employment and poverty may have an impact on mental health and wellbeing. International research has consistently found that mental ill health tends to be more prevalent in lower socio-economic groups (Mackenbach et al., 2017). Those that were receiving long-term disability benefits as well as those that were unemployed tend to exhibit a higher K6 scale score; thus, these groups are the most vulnerable. Previous research has consistently suggested a direct correlation between unemployment status and mental wellbeing so policies aimed at improving these factors may impact the mental health status of society (Mackenbach et al., 2017; Mulder, 2008).

Zahnd and Wyn (2012) utilized data from the 2009 California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), the same dataset that I used for my data analysis, but a different year. Zahnd and her colleague looked specifically at adult women in California and found that 7.6% or 1,064,000 women 18 years or older reported experiencing symptoms associated with SPD. The rate of past-year smoking and binge-drinking was higher in women with past-year SPD (22.8% and 31.3%, respectively) than women without such distress (9.1% and 23.8%, respectively). Women with past-year SPD were nearly two and a half times more odds to report being a victim of intimate partner violence (43.2%) than women without past-year SPD (18.4%) (Zahnd et al., 2012). In addition, women with past-year SPD had five times increased odds to respond that they have ever thought of suicide (38.7%) when compared to women without pastyear SPD (7.5%). The study also indicated that among adult women in California, younger age groups have higher past-year rates of SPD compared to older women. Specifically, women in the 18–44 and 45–64 years of age groups were twice as likely to have symptoms of past-year SPD compared to women 65 years or older (3.5%). In terms of marital status, the rate of past-year SPD experienced by single women with children (13.7%) was twice as high as the rate among married women with children (6.1%).

Race/ Ethnicity

Past studies have indicated that black non-Hispanics, Hispanics, and Asians or other racial ethnic groups were significantly less likely than white non-Hispanics to receive treatment for a disease (Horwitz, 2017; Ye, Shim, & Rust, 2012). Acculturation is a critical process of a cultural adjustment in a new society. This resettlement does not simply involve geographic location, but also involves challenges to an immigrant's lifelong values. The stress related to this process is referred to as "acculturative stress," which exceeds the immigrant's coping ability. Research has identified acculturative stress as one of the important predictors of psychological distress among older Asian immigrants (Choi, Miller, & Wilbur, 2009; Miller, Sorokin, Wang, Feetham, Choi, & Wilbur, 2006; Mui & Kang, 2006). The difficulty of acculturation has been associated with depression (Lee et al., 2005; Miller et al., 2006).

A number of studies indicated that acculturation is a cultural change from when individuals come to contact with another culture is often challenging and a source of stressful process (Kirmayer et al., 2011; Miller et al., 2006; Mui et al., 2006). Current research indicates that immigrants experience various stressors in the process of resettlement (Kirmayer et al., 2011). Older immigrants are considered at high risk of various mental health problems in the United States as a result of the process of acculturation, which can be stressful. For example, Jang and Chiriboga (2011) found that higher levels of acculturation were related to lower levels of acculturative stress in a sample of older Koreans in Florida; specifically, higher acculturation was associated with better mental health (Han, Kott, Hughes, McKeon, Blanco, & Compton, 2016; Jang et al., 2011; Kang, Domanski, & Moon, 2009; Lee, & Hwang, 2014).

In the 2001–2004 NHIS, Pratt et al. (2007) found that Hispanic adults 65 years and over had higher rates of SPD than non-Hispanics of the same age. The prevalence rate of SPD in Hispanics 18–44 years of age was similar to that in non-Hispanic white and non-Hispanic black persons. Weissman et al. (2016) also reported that Hispanics and non-Hispanic blacks with SPD were less likely to visit a healthcare provider at least once in the last 6 months compared to non-Hispanic whites with SPD. There was significant variation across all race/ethnicities in the frequency of emotional states. Among the most significant, non-Hispanic blacks and Hispanics felt more hopeless, sad, and restless compared to other race/ethnicities and non-Hispanic whites (Weissman et al., 2016). Zahnd et al. (2012) also found that Latinas (9.3%), African- American women (10.5%), and women of two or more races (10.2%) were twice as likely to have higher past-year serious psychological distress compared to Asian/Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander women (4.1%). However, white women also had higher past-year SPD levels (7.0%) than Asian/Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander women (4.1%). The different database from which the authors obtained their results may cast doubt on the validity of these results. However, the finding does raise further research questions, such as whether being accultured and being of a certain race or ethnicity may have a greater negative impact on the psychological wellbeing, and why.

Summary

SPD is an important individual and public health burden. Although many studies have been conducted to compare help-seeking behaviors and health-related outcomes between those with and without SPD, there remains a lack of understanding of the factors associated with decisions to seek healthcare made by adults with SPD. Ye et al. (2012) said stigma and fear of medical establishment negatively affected the use of health services. SPD was positively associated with fear of having a serious illness and thinking of dying. Forman-Hoffman et al. (2014) said the mean YPLL between those with and without SPD was 3.8, which is consistent with those reported by other studies.

While it is recognized that individual health choices affect perceptions of the necessity of seeking care, a large gap in the literature exists. In particular, the relationship between clinical, access and quality of care, sociodemographic factors, as well as help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD (doctor visits, forgoing care and delay in care) must be further explored. Supportive mental health treatment and targeting adverse health behaviors may be important mechanisms for reducing SPD; however, little is known about how to manage SPD in a way that would mitigate the risk. Addressing these problems requires an understanding of both its magnitude and of role of clinical, access

and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors so that targeted strategies can be developed to address barriers to quality healthcare and optimize use among those with SPD.

In Chapter 3, I discuss mechanisms behind these important findings by providing an overview of my study methodology, including my research questions and hypotheses, research design and rationale for choosing that design, and a detailed overview of data sources. I clearly define variables and statistical methods as well as threats to study validity and ethical procedures.

Chapter 3: Research Method

In this chapter, I provide an overview of the research method for my planned study. Many studies have been conducted comparing help-seeking behaviors and healthrelated outcomes between those with and without SPD. However, factors associated with decisions to seek healthcare made by adults with SPD are still not yet fully understood. The purpose of this study is to address lack of understanding of adults with SPD and their help-seeking behaviors, specifically with respect to clinical, access and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors. This chapter includes a description of my sample population and measures used, data collection procedures, the rationale for the selection of the quantitative study design, my data analysis plan, potential threats to validity resulting from my choice of study design, and potential ethical concerns.

Research Design and Rationale

I used a quantitative approach to investigate the relationship between clinical (physical health status and mental health status), access and quality of care (insurance status and source of health care status), and sociodemographic factors (sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, and English proficiency), as well as help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD. A quantitative examination was done using secondary data that were representative of California's noninstitutionalized adult population. The quantitative method was an appropriate approach because data collection occurred using the survey method and study questions are close-ended questions. The qualitative method was no appropriate because participants were not observed in their natural environment or interviewed using open-ended questions. The cross-sectional

design is suitable because the purpose of this study is to ascertain empirical relationships between independent and dependent variables at a single point in time. The independent variables are clinical (physical health status and mental health status), access and quality of care (insurance status and source of health care status) and sociodemographic factors (sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, and English proficiency). The dependent variables are help-seeking behaviors for SPD (doctor visits, forgoing care, and delay in care).

Methodology

In this section, I provide an overview of my methodology, including use of archival data, specific data sources used, population, sampling procedures, and variables. CHIS Data

Data used for this study were from the California Health Interview Survey (CHIS), a random-digit telephone survey designed to be representative of California's noninstitutionalized population. For analysis purposes, CHIS 2015 data collected between May 2015 and December 2016 were used, which involved surveying 42,089 adults, 1,594 adolescents, and 4,293 children in California (CHIS, 2017). Approximately 50% of adult interviews were conducted via landline and 50% via cell phone to reduce potential selection bias.

The CHIS sample design is a stratified two-stage dual frame design (phase 1) with a follow-up study on a subsample of nonrespondents (phase 2). CHIS employed this responsive design with adaptive design features to "minimize the risk of nonresponse bias, reduce nonresponse rates, increase the number of interviews in key sample domains, and maximize cost efficiency" (CHIS, 2017, p.12). CHIS varied the duration of each phase, based on changes in interview rates and number of hours per interview, but on average, phase 1 lasted 12 weeks and phase 2 lasted 5 weeks. During the second phase, CHIS was successful in gaining participation among those who were underrepresented. For the purpose of this study, I extracted relevant questions and participants' responses from the CHIS dataset, which is available for public use. As a result, I did not have to obtain separate permission to access data.

CHIS interviewers received a minimum of 18 hours of training, and were constantly monitored and supervised to ensure high-quality data collection. RTI International, a research organization, conducted CHIS data collection. Interviewers contacted each sampled telephone number at least 14 times on different days (weekdays and weekends) during different times of the day in order to make contact with households. If interviewers initially contacted the household at an inconvenient time, they arranged for callback appointments to accommodate respondents' schedules. Interviewers also left messages on answering machines to help differentiate CHIS from telemarketers and encourage participation in the survey.

CHIS data and results have been used extensively by federal and state agencies, local public health agencies and organizations, advocacy and community organizations, other local agencies, hospitals, community clinics, foundations, and researchers to develop an understanding of a wide range of health-related issues. The UCLA Center for Health Policy Research (UCLA-CHPR) conducts CHIS in collaboration with the California Department of Public Health and Department of Health Care Services to provide extensive information on health-related issues for small, medium and large-sized counties in California, as well as statewide information involving California's overall population. The evaluation assessment focuses on two of the high need service planning areas (SPAs) in Los Angeles County, SPA 4 and SPA 6, with a goal of reducing obesity and other diet-related chronic diseases among SNAP-eligible populations.

The 2015-2016 adult questionnaire is divided into 15 sections; however, only the bolded sections were used for the purpose of this study.

- a. Demographics part I- sex, race, age, marital status
- b. Health conditions- general health, asthma, pre-diabetes/ borderline diabetes, heart disease, flu shot
- c. Health behaviors- walking for transportation and leisure, dietary intake, access to fresh and affordable foods, fast food, alcohol use/ abuse
- **d.** General health, disability, and sexuality health- height and weight, disability, sexual partner, registered domestic partner, gender identity
- e. Women's health- pregnancy status, mammography
- **f.** Mental health- K6 mental health assessment, repeated K6, Sheehan scale, access and utilization, stigma, medication, loneliness scale
- g. Demographics part II- country of birth (self, parents), additional language use, spouse/ partner, living with parents, educational attainment, veteran status, employment, county of residence, address confirmation, cell phone use

- h. Health care and health insurance- usual source of care, emergency room visits, Medicare coverage, employer-based coverage, private coverage, employer offer of health insurance, coverage over past 12 months, reasons for lack of coverage
- Adolescent and child health insurance- child's health insurance, Medi-Cal coverage, private coverage, high deductible health plans, reasons for lack of coverage, coverage over past 12 months, citizenship and immigration of parents
- j. Health care utilization and access- visits to medical doctor, personal doctor, patient-centered care, timely appointments, tele-medical care, communication problems with a doctor, change of usual source of care, delays in care, internet use, family planning,
- k. Employment, income, poverty status, food security- hours worked, income last month, annual household income, number of persons supported, poverty level test, availability of food in household, hunger
- Public program participation- TANF/ CalWORKS, food stamps, supplementary security income, assets, child support, worker's compensation, social security/ pension payments, reasons for nonparticipation in Medi-Cal
- m. Housing and social cohesion- housing, social cohesion, safety, civil engagement, philanthropic contributions
- n. Suicide ideation- suicide ideation and attempts

o. Discrimination

The questionnaire content is largely driven by the research needs of the UCLA, sponsoring agencies, and a variety of government, academic and other partners.

CHIS 2015 data were collected between May 2015 and December 2016, and the survey is conducted via RDD and is designed to achieve a distribution of 50% landline and 50% cellular phone numbers. For the RDD sample, CHIS grouped the 58 counties in the state into 44 geographic sampling strata and created 14 sub-strata within the two most populous counties in the state (Los Angeles and San Diego; see Table 1). Within each geographic stratum, CHIS selected residential telephone numbers then selected randomly from within each household one adult (age 18 or older) respondent. In those households with adolescents (ages 12-17) and /or children (under age 12), one adolescent and one child of the randomly selected parent/guardian were randomly selected.

Table 1

California County and County Group Strata Used in the CHIS 2015-16 Sample Design

1.	Los Angeles	17. Stanislaus
	1.1 Antelope Valley	18. Santa Barbara
	1.2 San Fernando Valley	19. Solano
	1.3 San Gabriel Valley	20. Tulare
	1.4 Metro	21. Santa Cruz
	1.5 West	22. Marin
	1.6 South	23. San Luis Obispo
	1.7 East	24. Placer
	1.8 South Bay	25. Merced
2.	San Diego	26. Butte
	2.1 N. Coastal	27. Shasta
	2.2 N. Central	28. Yolo
	2.3 Central	29. Imperial
	2.4 South	30. Napa
	2.5 East	31. Kings
	2.6 N. Inland	32. El Dorado
3.	Orange	33. Madera
4.	Santa Clara	34. Monterey
5.	San Bernardino	35. Humboldt
6.	Riverside	36. Nevada
7.	Alameda	37. Mendocino
8.	Sacramento	38. Sutter
9.	Contra Costa	39. Yuba

10. Fresno	40. Lake
11. San Francisco	41. San Benito
12. Ventura	42. Colusa, Glen, Tehama
13. San Mateo	43. Plumas, Sierra, Siskiyou
14. Kern	Lassen, Modoc, Trinity,
15. San Joaquin	Del Norte
16. Sonoma	44. Mariposa, Mono, Inyo,
	Amador, Alpine,

Population

To capture the rich diversity of the California population, CHIS interviews were conducted in five languages- English, Spanish, Chinese (Mandarin and Cantonese dialects), Vietnamese, and Korean. These were chosen based on CHIS's analysis of 2010 Census data, which was performed to identify the languages that would cover the largest number of Californians in the CHIS sample who either did not speak English or did not speak English well enough to otherwise participate (CHIS, 2017). Oversampling of Marin County and Imperial County were done due to the targeted geography included several sparsely populated communities. In 2015-2016, CHIS completed 42,089 adult interviews with oversampling of certain groups (Table 2), roughly half via landline RDD and half via cell RDD; similarly, half of the interviews were completed in 2015 and half in 2016.

Calaveras, Tuolumne

Table 2

Number of Completed CHIS 2015-16 Adult Interviews by Type of Sample and Instrument

Type of Sample	Adult
Landline RDD	15,106
Vietnamese surname list	3,558
Korean surname list	1,772
Japanese surname list	631
Cell RDD	19,722
Marin County oversample	1,042
Imperial County ASB oversample	258

To maximize response rates, CHIS mailed an advance letter in five languages to all landline sampled telephone numbers for which an address could be obtained from reverse directory services. CHIS included a \$2 bill with the 2015-16 advance letter to encourage cooperation and provided additional incentives of \$20 for cell phone adult interviews and \$40 for nonresponse follow-up adult interviews. This modest incentive did not compensate for respondent's time, but helped to draw attention to the survey, emphasize its importance, and encourage participation (CHIS, 2017). Details on the incentives are provided in Table 3.

Table 3

2015-2016 CHIS Incentives by Interview Type

Type of interview	Adult
Cell Phone Screener	\$5
Cell Phone Adult Interview	\$20
Cell Phone Child Interview	\$10
Cell Phone Teen Interview	\$10
Nonresponse Follow-Up Adult	
Interview	\$40
Nonresponse Follow-Up Child	

Interview	\$20
Nonresponse Follow-up Teen	
Interview	\$20

Study Sample

An analysis sample containing only participants with SPD was identified using the standardized and validated K6 scale. The K6 scale consists of six questions which either individually or collectively can be used to understand how frequently respondents experience symptoms of SPD in the previous 30 days. Responses from the K6 scale questionnaire were separately coded from 0 to 4 as shown in Table 4. This is because CHIS score values and K6 score values are different. The K6 response codes (0-4) are summed to yield a total score ranging from 0 to 24. Scores of 13 or above define SPD (Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, 2015). The initial question for the instrument is "The next questions are about how you have been feeling during the past 30 days."

Table 4

K6 Scale of SPD

Question	Variable	Response set	Score value CHIS- K6	Symptom
About how often do		All of the time	1-4	
you feel nervous?	AJ29	Most of the time	2-3	
		Some of the time	3-2	
		A little of the time	4-1	Nervous
		None of the time	5-0	
		Refused	-7	
		Don't know	-8	
About how often do		All of the time	1-4	
you feel hopeless?	AJ30	Most of the time	2-3	Handlere
		Some of the time	3-2	Hopeless
		A little of the time	4-1	

Question	Variable	Response set	Score value CHIS- K6	Symptom
		None of the time	5-0	
		Refused	-7	
		Don't know	-8	
About how often do		All of the time	1-4	
you feel restless or		Most of the time	2-3	
fidgety?	AJ31	Some of the time	3-2	Restless or
		A little of the time	4-1	fidgety
		None of the time	5-0	nugety
		Refused	-7	
		Don't know	-8	
About how often do		All of the time	1-4	
you feel so depressed		Most of the time	2-3	
that nothing could	AJ32	Some of the time	3-2	
cheer you up?		A little of the time	4-1	Depressed
		None of the time	5-0	
		Refused	-7	
		Don't know	-8	
About how often do		All of the time	1-4	
you feel that everything		Most of the time	2-3	
was an effort?	AJ33	Some of the time	3-2	
		A little of the time	4-1	Effort
		None of the time	5-0	
		Refused	-7	
		Don't know	-8	
About how often do		All of the time	1-4	
you feel worthless?	AJ34	Most of the time	2-3	
		Some of the time	3-2	Worthless
		A little of the time	4-1	w or uness
		None of the time	5-0	
		Refused	-7	
		Don't know	-8	

The K6 scale has psychometric properties and the use of it enables identification of persons with mental conditions that cause serious role impairments and require mental health treatment (Kessler et al., 2002; Pratt et al., 2007). Researchers have demonstrated that the K6 scale has internal consistency (Cronbach α = 0.89) (Kessler et al., 2002). Outcomes from previous studies indicate that K6 scale is both an effective screening measure and an indicator of distress severity among the populations (Mitchell, & Beals, 2011). A cutoff score of 13 has a 0.36 (standard error [SE] 0.08) sensitivity, a 0.96 (SE 0.02) specificity, and a total classification accuracy of 0.92 (SE 0.02) for detecting persons with SPD (Kessler et al., 2003; Prochaska et al., 2012). After excluding respondents without SPD and those that identified themselves as currently pregnant (6 respondents) the final analytic sample consisted of 1,678 respondents (Table 5).

Table 5

K6 Score	Frequency	Valid
Value		Percent
.00	10865	26.0
1.00	5924	14.2
2.00	5642	13.5
3.00	4093	9.8
4.00	3671	8.8
5.00	2470	5.9
6.00	2077	5.0
7.00	1426	3.4
8.00	1204	2.9
9.00	877	2.1
10.00	767	1.8
11.00	558	1.3
12.00	557	1.3
13.00	339	.8
14.00	324	.8
15.00	240	.6
16.00	169	.4
17.00	157	.4
18.00	135	.3
19.00	92	.2
20.00	66	.2
21.00	52	.1
22.00	40	.1
23.00	30	.1
24.00	40	.1
Total	41815	100.0
Missing	274	
System		
Total	42089	

Analysis Sample (SPD= K6 scale ≥ 13)

Power Analysis

G*Power 3.1 was used to perform sample size estimation. The estimation was based upon a logistic regression model assuming 80% statistical power, alpha= 0.05, and a two-sided test (Figure 1) to detect sample sizes needed for OR of 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3. In addition, the R² was set to 0.40, representing the estimated squared multiple correlation between the independent variable of interest and the other covariates; it is used to estimate the amount of variability accounted for by the covariates. The projected sample size needed under the above assumptions is approximately N= 512 to detect OR of 1.5 (see Table 6). Thus, my analytic sample size of 1,678 is sufficient for detecting different levels of effect when performing inferential statistics for this study.

Figure 1





Table 6

Analysis to Determine Number of Subjects for This Study

Odds Ratio	Total Sample
(OR)	Size
1.5	512
2.0	188
Odds Ratio	Total Sample
------------	--------------
(OR)	Size
2.5	116
3.0	88

Independent Variables

Clinical Factors

The clinical data include questions around physical health status and mental health status. The general health condition of the respondent were accessed with, "Would you say that in general your health is," in a Likert scale. Afterwards, I examined questions related to their health status in the following conditions: asthma, diabetes/borderline or pre-diabetes, hypertension, or heart disease with a dichotomous question, "Has a doctor ever told you that you had *<insert health status*??" In regards to diabetes status, women who were identified as only having gestational diabetes ("Has a doctor ever told you that you had diabetes during pregnancy?") were not considered as having diabetes. These questions were used to create a new variable, Chronic Health Conditions (asthma, diabetes, hypertension or heart disease) were flagged as "yes" for having a chronic health condition. Those who indicated "no" to all were flagged as "other".

Psychiatric and emotional health of the respondent were ascertained with questions on whether emotions interfered with the respondent's performance at work, with household chores, with social life, or with relationship with friends and family. These questions were used to create a new variable, Psychiatric/ Emotional Health Condition, such that an individual that selected "a lot" or "some" to any of the above questions were flagged as "yes" for Psychiatric/ Emotional Health Condition. Those who select "not at all" were flagged as "no" and all other responses were flagged as "other".

Access and Quality of Care Factors

The access and quality of care data include questions around insurance status and source of health care status. The multiple categories were entered into the model as binary variables to obtain a better model fit and to maximize model power. As I am interested more in whether the respondent had insurance rather than the type of insurance, this handling brought my operationalized definition closer to its original conceptualization. In addition to the type of insurance, I looked at whether the insurance covers treatment for mental health problems, such as visits to a psychologist or psychiatrist.

If the respondent answered "yes" to not having any health insurance, I want to see if it was because the respondent can't afford it, is not eligible due to working status/ changed employer/ lost job, is not eligible due to health or other problems, is not eligible due to citizenship/ immigration status, family situation changed, don't believe in insurance, switched insurance companies which caused a delay, can get healthcare for free, other, refused or don't know.

Sources of Healthcare

The next topics are about health care access and seek to know "Is there a place that you usually go to when you are sick or need advice about your health other than ER?", "Do you have a personal doctor or medical provider who is your main provider?" The multiple categories were entered into the model as binary variables to obtain a better model fitting and power. As I am interested more in whether the respondent had a source of care, this handling brought my operationalized definition closer to its original conceptualization. Additional dichotomous questions were used to identify information around difficulty with source of care, including if individual had trouble finding a general doctor, whether their insurance was not accepted by a general doctor, and their ability to get appointment in a timely way.

Sociodemographic Factors

The sociodemographic data include questions around sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, and English proficiency. Sex of the participant include: male, female. Race include: White, Other single race, African American, Asian, More than one race, American Indian/ Alaska Native. Range of the participant's age include: 18-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, 60-69, 70+. The variables for marital status include: married, living with partner, widowed/ separated/ divorced, never married.

The variables for education take one of several values: the highest grade of education completed or received credit for no formal education or grade 1-8, grade 9- 11, grade 12/ high school diploma, some college, vocational school, AA or AS degree, BA or BS degree/ some grad school, MA or MS degree, PhD or equivalent. The approximate household's annual income from all sources before taxes is divided into series of questions: less than \$20,000 per year, \$20,000 to \$34,999, \$35,000 to \$49,999, \$50,000 to \$74,999, \$75,000 to \$99,999, over \$100,000. Finally, if the respondent indicated that he or she speaks a language other than English at home, I used a four level measurement

of very well, well, not well, not at all to see what the respondent's opinions of how well he or she speaks English.

Dependent Variables

Help-Seeking Behaviors

Help-seeking involves three distinct elements: the person who is looking for help, the problem for which help is sought and the individual from who help is required (Cornally & McCarthy, 2011). The complex decision-making process begins with the recognition and definition of a problem, which leads to the decision to act. For analysis purposes, the following questions were selected and identified as help-seeking behaviors (see Table 7). These questions assess whether in the past 12 months individuals have seen a health care professional, forged care or delayed care. A new variable was constructed, Doctor Visit, such that an individual that indicated "yes" to any questions related to having had an interaction with a doctor in the past 12 months (visited doctor's office for preventive care, visited doctor's office for own health, or received care via video or telephone conversation), were flagged as "yes" for having had a doctor visit. Those who indicated "no" were flagged as "no" for Doctor Visit and all other responses were flagged as "other". The questions around forgoing and delaying care helped further understand the behaviors of those who indicated "no" to having seen a doctor or healthcare

Table 7

Help-Seeking Behaviors

Question	Variable	Response set	Score value	
During the past 12 months, Did you visit a doctor's office For a preventive care?	CARE_PV	Yes No Refused Don't know	1 2 -7 -8	
During the past 12 months, Did you visit a doctor's office For your own heatlh?	DOCT_YR	Yes No Refused Don't know	1 2 -7 -8	
During the past 12 months, did You visit a hospital emergency Room for your own health?	AH12	Yes No Refused Don't know	1 2 -7 -8	
During the past 12 months, did You receive care from a doctor Or health professional through Video or telephone conversation Rather than an office visit?	AJ152	Yes No Refused Don't know	1 2 -7 -8	
During the past 12 months, did You forgo necessary care?	FORGO	Yes No Refused Don't know	1 2 -7 -8	
During the past 12 months, did You delay or not get any other Medical care you felt you needed—such as seeing a doctor a specialist, or other health professionals?	, AH22	Yes No Refused Don't know	1 2 -7 -8	

Additional Variables of Interest

Variables for Exclusion

Given that clinical, access and quality of care, and help-seeking behaviors differ when a woman is pregnant, those that identified themselves as currently pregnant were excluded in the study. After excluding respondents who were pregnant, the final analytic sample consisted of 1,678 respondents.

Variables of Descriptive Statistics Purposes

To further understand the sample population, descriptive analysis was conducted on the following variables: Main reason for delaying needed care, whether or not the respondent eventually received medical care that was delayed, cost or having no insurance delayed getting needed care, and whether there is a usual source of care.

Data Analysis

IBM SPSS Statistics, version 25, was used for all analyses, and the alpha level of 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance. SAS, version 9.4, was used for data cleaning such as creating new variables (chronic health condition and psychiatric/ emotional health condition under clinical factors, source of health care and difficulty with source of health care under access and quality of care factors, and doctor visit under help-seeking behaviors).

Simple descriptive statistics, including frequency counts and percentages for characterizing categorical variables, and measures of central tendency (e.g., means) and spread (e.g., standard deviations and ranges) for continuous variables were used in this study. For multivariable analyses, logistic regression analyses were performed. Logistic regression analysis methods were appropriate to address the following research questions because it is a predictive analysis used to assess the strength of association between multiple independent variables and dependent variables (Sperandei, 2014). Specially, a logistic regression is appropriate when the dependent variable is dichotomous with two likely outcomes and the independent variables of any types (Agresti, 2007). My dependent variables and independent variables meet this criterion.

Hosmer and Lemeshow (2000) provide the logistic regression calculation which is:

$$\pi(x) = \frac{e^{\beta}o + b1x}{1 + e^{\beta}o + b1x}$$

The logistic regression model includes the logit transformation in terms of as $\pi(x)$. It is

$$g(x) = ln \frac{\pi(x)}{1 - \pi(x)}$$
$$= \beta_o + \beta_1 X$$

The logit, g(x) is linear in its variable values, may be continuous, and may range from $-\infty$ to $+\infty$ depending on the range of x (Hosmer et al., 2000, p 6). Logistic regression models the logit-transformed probability as a linear relationship (Hosmer et al., 2000). This study examines the relationship among multiple predictors and the help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

Each logistic regression analysis was evaluated using the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit (GOF) statistic to assess whether the model is correctly specified. If the GOF test produces a p-value < 0.05, there was evidence of lack of model fit. In such circumstances, I grouped cases together according to their predicted values from the logistic regression model, arraying the predicted values from lowest to highest, and then separating them into several groups of approximately equal size until the final model has no evidence of lack of fit (Hosmer, & Lemeshow, 1980).

Finally, Wald statistical tests was used to determine whether an independent variable is significant at p-value < 0.05 by testing whether the regression coefficient for each independent variable was significantly different than zero (UCLA Institute for Digital Research & Education, 2019). Failing to reject the null hypothesis (variable does not equal zero) indicates that the variable contributes to the model and thus will affect the model fit if removed. Rejecting the null hypothesis (variable equals zero) indicates that the variable has no effect in the model and can be removed without affecting the model fit (UCLA Institute for Digital Research & Education, 2019).

My research questions and associated hypotheses were as follows:

RQ1: What are general help-seeking behaviors of individuals with SPD?

RQ2: Are clinical factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

 H_02 : Clinical factors are not significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

 H_a2 : Clinical factors are significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

RQ3: Are access and quality of care factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

 H_03 : Access and quality of care factors are not significantly associated with helpseeking behaviors among individuals with SPD. H_a3 : Access and quality of care factors are significantly associated with helpseeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

RQ4: Are sociodemographic factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

 H_04 : Sociodemographic factors are not significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

 H_a4 : Sociodemographic factors are significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

Threats to Validity

Internal and external validity are two types of validity that can affect the result of the study. Internal validity is "the degree to which we can appropriately conclude that the changes in X caused the changes in Y" (Seltman, 2018, p 193). However, even though my study assesses confounding variables that may influence the relationship between the independent and dependent variables due to the study is not designed to access causation, there may be additional factors not accounted for that may threaten the internal validity of my study. External validity is synonymous with generalizability (Trochim, 2006). Since my study focuses on adult respondents, age 18 and above, living in California with access to either landline or cell phone, the external validity of my results is therefore limited to this target population.

Threats to measurement validity constitute another issue that can affect my results thereby altering my conclusions. The measurement validity of landline and cellular phone interviews are often viewed as suspect because they may lead to socially desirable responses that may result in over-reporting of desirable behaviors and under-reporting of undesirable behaviors (Mickalide, 1997). In addition, because I used the interview data without collecting it myself (secondary data source) and my concepts of these response may be markedly different from those under which the survey question was originally asked, this could contribute bias or at least error. For example, among my variables, a few with multiple categories, e.g. insurance status, source of health care, were entered into my models as binary variables for my analyses. However, despite these concerns, and although a set of "Yes"/"No" questions were not used in the survey, I believe that my data may be valid and would not significantly impact my study.

Maxwell (1992) observed that quantitative research attempts to establish that validity is not a single, fixed or universal concept, but rather a set of constructs that measure phenomena into common categories that can be applied to all of the subjects or wider and similar situations. Hence, because the research is measuring what it was intended to measure and the data are sufficiently valid on target constructs, within the quantitative definition, it may be judged valid and replicable on the merits of its generalizability.

RTI International was responsible for data collection for CHIS and it used the Questionnaire Appraisal System (QAS) to ensure that each question that was asked to the respondents examined potential issues related to question reading, instructions, overall clarity, and assumptions that the question makes (CHIS, 2017). The trained experienced interviewers went through a pilot test and the results of the observations and debriefing from the pilot study helped inform decisions about cutting and modifying questions between the pilot test and the main study. Bilingual data collectors were also trained along with English-only data collectors, and this intensive project-specific training for CHIS interviewers allowed for consistent and accurate delivery of the survey.

When testing my hypotheses, because they are based on probabilities, I need to be aware that there is a chance of making an incorrect conclusion. Type I error occurs when the null hypothesis is true and I fail to accept it. Since I am setting alpha at 0.05, it means that I am willing to accept a 5% chance that I am wrong when I fail to accept the null hypothesis. Type II error occurs when the null hypothesis is false and I fail to reject it, making a type II error. I decreased my risk of committing a type II error by ensuring that my test has enough power by ensuring that my sample size is large enough to detect a practical difference when one truly exists. In order to help reduce potential threats to statistical conclusion and validity, the level of significance (α) is set to .05 and statistical power is set to 80%.

Protection of Human Subjects

CHIS obtain certificate from the National Institutes of Health. The certificate protects the confidentiality of respondents and the information they provide from forced disclosure, such as a court subpoena (CHIS, 2017). The confidentiality of all participants, and protocols for participant recruitment, data collection, and the dissemination and storage of data is governed by the UCLA Office for the Protection of Research Subjects, the California Committee for the Protection of Human Subjects, and the federal Office of Management and Budget. The UCLA South General Institutional Review Board (IRB) has approved the DAC to conduct analyses of confidential CHIS data (UCLA IRB #11002227). In addition, California law, the University of California, and several government human subject protection committees, require that no personal information be released that could be used to identify an individual participant in CHIS. The California Information Practices Act (section 1798.24) also requires that the data collected in this survey can be used only for statistical research and reporting purposes, therefore, any release of personal information violates this law. The person responsible for any unauthorized release is subject to civil action and penalties for invasion of privacy under California Civil Code, Section 1798.53.

Summary

In the U.S., approximately 46.6 million Americans over the age of 18 have experienced some form of mental illness in the past year (Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality, 2017). The negative impact of delayed help-seeking behavior on the person, such as delayed diagnosis and treatment, and the poor outcomes that result from neglecting to get help can lead to social problems. The factors that influence the decision to seek help in adults with SPD thus must be addressed if interventions are to improve help-seeking behavior among this population. In Chapter 3, I described my study methodology including my research questions, research design, data source, study variables, data analysis plan, sampling procedures and threats to validity. I used a crosssectional study design to investigate the associations among clinical factors, access and quality of care factors, and sociodemographic factors and help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD. In Chapter 4, I present my results based upon the data source and methodologies discussed in Chapter 3.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this quantitative cross-sectional secondary data analysis was to investigate the relationship between patient factors and help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD. My research questions and associated hypotheses were as follows:

RQ1: What are general help-seeking behaviors of individuals with SPD?

RQ2: Are clinical factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

 H_02 : Clinical factors are not significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

 $H_a 2$: Clinical factors are significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

RQ3: Are access and quality of care factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

 H_03 : Access and quality of care factors are not significantly associated with helpseeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

 H_a3 : Access and quality of care factors are significantly associated with helpseeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

RQ4: Are sociodemographic factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

 H_04 : Sociodemographic factors are not significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

 $H_a 4$: Sociodemographic factors are significantly associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

In this chapter, I include statistical analysis findings to answer research questions. Specifically, I discuss data collection, data analysis results, including descriptive and inferential analyses, and a summary of the chapter.

Data Collection

Time Frame

I analyzed data from the CHIS. Specifically, I used the 2015 version of CHIS, the most recent available, and included data on 42,089 adults collected between May 2015 and December 2016. As noted in Chapter 3, the survey was conducted via RDD and designed to achieve a distribution of 50% landline and 50% cellular phone numbers. The overall response rate for CHIS 2015 was 10.1%, which is similar to other comparable telephone-based surveys.

Description of Data Collection

As I employed existing data sources, I was required to download data that had already been collected by CHIS staff members. There were no discrepancies in data retrieved from the CHIS website, and I was able to download all data during the time period of interest.

Baseline Descriptive Demographic Characteristics

There were 42,089 individuals who participated in the CHIS 2015 survey. I applied my inclusion/exclusion criteria for this study as follows. First, I used the standardized and validated K6 scale to narrow down my analytic sample to those with

SPD, which excluded 38,727 respondents. An additional six persons who self-identified as currently pregnant were also excluded. The final analytic sample consisted of 1,678 remaining individuals. The sample had a mean age of 48 years. My sample was 61.3% female and 59.5% White, and 30.4% had at least a high school diploma.

Sample Representativeness

To capture the rich diversity of the California population, CHIS staff conducted the survey in six languages (English, Spanish, Chinese, Vietnamese, Korean, and Tagalog), chosen based on staffs analysis of 2010 census data to identify languages spoken by Californians in their sample who either did not speak English or did not speak English well enough to participate. My analytic sample consisted of 1,678 respondents (4.0%) who scored above 13 on the K6 scale.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Table 8 shows sociodemographic characteristics of the 1,678 study participants. 61.3% of study participants were women (n = 1,029; 61.3%). 59.5% were White (n = 999), and approximately 8% (n = 140) self-identified as African American. 23.7% were married (n = 398). The mean age was 48 (SD = 17.5) years and ages ranged from 18 to 85. Of the 1,678 study participants, 855 (51.0%) answered the household income question; 51.8% of respondents earned less than \$20,000/year (n = 443).

Table 8

Variables						
Sociodemographic factors	Ν	%				
Sex						
Male	649	38.7				
Female	1,029	61.3				
Race						
White	999	59.5				
Other single race	246	14.7				
African American	140	8.3				
Asian	132	7.9				
More than one race	96	5.7				
American Indian/Alaska Native	65	3.9				
Age (years)						
Mean+SD	48	16.9				
18-29	284	11.2				
30-39	188	13.5				
40-49	227	28.2				
50-59	473	18.2				
60-69	306	12.0				
70+	200	16.9				

Sociodemographics of Study Participants

Variables						
Sociodemographic factors	Ν	%				
Marital status						
Married	398	23.7				
Living with partner	137	8.2				
Widowed Separated/Divorced	649	38.7				
Never married	494	29.4				
Household Family Income (N=855)						
Less than \$20,000	443	51.8				
\$20,000 to \$34,999	152	17.8				
\$35,000 to \$49,999	80	9.4				
\$50,000 to \$74,999	86	10.1				
\$75,000 to \$99,999	31	3.6				
Over \$100,000	63	7.4				
Education						
No formal education or Grade 1–8	216	12.9				
Grade 9-11	189	11.3				
Grade 12/High school diploma	510	30.4				
Some college	289	17.2				
Vocational school	57	3.4				
AA or AS degree	127	7.6				
BA or BS degree/Some grad school	210	12.5				
MA or MS degree	62	3.7				
PhD or equivalent	18	1.1				
English Proficiency (N=650)						
Very well	231	35.5				
Well	143	22.0				
Not well	148	22.8				
Not at all	128	19.7				

In Table 9, I describe the clinical physical and mental health status of the study participants. Physical health status includes general health condition and chronic health conditions of respondents. Mental health status includes psychiatric/emotional health conditions. Two thirds of study participants (n=1,122; 66.9%) indicated they had one or more chronic health conditions (e.g., asthma, diabetes, hypertension, or heart disease). As all respondents suffered from SPD, nearly all of them (n=1,603; 95.5%) had experienced one or more psychiatric/emotional health conditions.

Table 9

Variables						
Clinical factors	N	%				
Physical health status						
General health condition						
Excellent	59	3.5				
Very Good	158	9.4				
Good	367	21.9				
Fair	550	32.8				
Poor	544	32.4				
Chronic health condition						
Yes	1,122	66.9				
No	556	33.1				
Mental Health Status						
Psychiatric/Emotional health condition						
Yes	1,603	95.5				
No	75	4.5				

Clinical Health Status of Study Participants

In Table 10, I provide information on the respondents' access to care and qualityof-care status, divided into insurance status and source of health care to better understand potential barriers to respondents seeking care. Most had some form of insurance, at least for the previous year (n=1,138; 67.8%), with more than half of respondents (n=942; 56.1%) having insurance that covered mental health. Most participants (n=1,398; 83.3%) also indicated they had a usual source of care other than the emergency room or had a personal doctor; however, nearly one-half (n=808; 48.2%) reported at least some difficulty in accessing care for various reasons including trouble finding a general doctor, having insurance that was not accepted, or being unable to get an appointment in a timely manner.

Access and Quality of Care S	tatus of Study Participants
Access and Quanty of Care S	iaius of siuay i ariicipanis

Variables					
Access and Quality of Care Factors	Ν	%			
Insurance Status					
Uninsured	147	8.8			
Medicare/Medicaid	329	19.6			
Medicare/Others	138	8.2			
Medicare only	57	3.4			
Medicaid	665	39.6			
Employment based	237	14.1			
Privately purchased	73	4.4			
Other public	32	1.9			
Insurance covers mental health					
N/A	499	29.7			
Yes	942	56.1			
No	194	11.6			
No insurance	43	2.6			
Uninsured in past 12 months					
Skipped .ages >=65	308	18.4			
Uninsured all year	101	6.0			
Uninsured part year	131	7.8			
Insured all year	1,138	67.8			
Source of health care					
Yes	1,398	83.3			
No	280	16.7			
Difficulty with source of health care					
Yes	808	48.2			
No	870	51.8			

Statistical Assumptions

I used logistic regression as my methodology for examining the relationships between the various predictor variables of interest and the outcomes. All logistic regression assumptions, as outlined in Chapter 3, were tested. All relevant variables were included. The range of values for the dependent variable was 0 or 1 (Katz, 2011). To test for multicollinearity, the variance inflation factor (VIF) and tolerance were tested. I did this by performing a linear regression in SPSS using help-seeking behaviors as the dependent variables and loading all of the independent variables in the model at once. I used only results of the tests for multicollinearity. For all independent variables, VIF ranged from 1.0 to 2.4, thus multicollinearity was not a problem as these values were all less than 10, a threshold commonly employed for establishing possible multicollinearity. (Dormann, 2013). Tolerance levels ranged from 0.46 to 0.98, which, as a tolerance level of 0.10 or less suggests multicollinearity, also indicates that multicollinearity between variables was not an issue (Lee, 2013)

Results for RQ1

My first research question was designed to examine the general help-seeking behaviors (doctor visit, forgoing care, and delaying care) among individuals with SPD. Regarding doctor visits, 1,547 respondents (92.2%) had in the past year had a doctor visit, a preventive care visit, or care via video or telephone conversation. However, 368 respondents (21.9%) indicated that they had had to forgo care and 588 respondents (35.0%) delayed care for various reasons, including anxiety, fear, or avoidance of medical care and cost (Table 11).

Table 11

Variables							
Help-Seeking Behaviors	Ν	%					
Doctor visit							
Yes	1,547	92.2					
No	131	7.8					
Forgoing care							
Yes	368	21.9					
No	1310	78.1					
Delaying care							
Yes	588	35.0					
No	1090	65.0					

Help-Seeking Behaviors of Study Participants

Results for RQ2-RQ4

To answer RQ2, RQ3, and RQ4, I performed three separate binary logistic regression analyses to examine the association between predictor variables, including clinical factor variables, access and quality of care factor variables, and sociodemographic factor variables to the three specific help-seeking behaviors (doctor visit, forgoing care, delaying care). The logistic regression models were generated using the Enter method, a procedure for variable selection in which all variables in block are entered in a single step (Wuensch, 2020); Model 1 included the outcome for the helpseeking behavior of doctor visits, Model 2 included the outcome of forgoing care, and Model 3 included of the outcome of delaying care. I provided details of model fit then I discussed individual model results and how they address each of RQ2, RQ3, and RQ4. The results for Model 1 (whether the participant had a doctor visit in the past 12

months), are presented in Table 12. The model fit chi-square was significant $(X^2(19)) =$

130.25, p < 0.001), indicating that the model was able to discriminate between

participants who did and did not visit a doctor. The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit

test had a p-value of 0.43, indicating no evidence of lack of model fit.

Factors Associated with Doctor Visit in SPD Patients After Adjusting for Predictor Variables (Model 1)

Predictors	Beta	Standard	Wald	Odds Ratio (95%	<i>p</i> -value
		error		confidence interval)	
Clinical Factors					
General Health	-0.14	0.14	0.97	0.87 (0.66, 1.15)	0.33
Condition					
Chronic Health	0.67	0.30	4.89	1.94 (1.08, 3.48)	0.03
Condition					
Mental Health	1.02	0.58	3.06	2.78 (0.88, 8.72)	0.08
Condition					
Access and Quality of					
Care Factors					
Insurance Status	-0.12	0.07	2.66	0.89 (0.77, 1.02)	0.10
Source of Health Care	1.94	0.32	38.07	6.99 (3.77, 12.95)	0.001
Difficulty with Source	0.98	0.34	8.47	2.68 (1.38, 5.19)	0.004
of Health Care					
Sociodemographic					
Factors					
Sex	-0.24	0.31	0.61	0.79 (0.43, 1.44)	0.43
Race					
White (reference)					
Other single race	0.72	0.42	3.02	2.06 (0.91, 4.66)	0.08
American Indian/	-0.26	0.72	0.13	0.78 (0.19, 3.19)	0.72
Alaska Native					
Asian	0.75	0.61	1.52	2.11 (0.64, 6.92)	0.22
African American	0.06	0.61	0.10	1.06 (0.32, 3.52)	0.92
More than one race	-0.09	0.70	0.02	0.91 (0.23, 3.57)	0.90
Age	-0.01	0.01	0.47	1.00 (0.97, 1.01)	0.50
Marital Status					

Predictors	Beta	Standard	Wald	Odds Ratio (95%	<i>p</i> -value
		error		confidence interval)	
Never married (ref)					
Married	-0.97	0.45	4.59	0.38 (0.16, 0.92)	0.03
Living with partner	-0.04	0.54	0.01	0.96 (0.34, 2.77)	0.95
Widowed/ separated/	-0.55	0.41	1.83	0.58 (0.26, 1.28)	0.18
Divorced					
Education	-0.10	0.09	1.36	0.90 (0.76, 1.07)	0.24
Economic Status	0.04	0.10	0.15	1.04 (0.85, 1.28)	0.70
English Proficiency	0.00	0.11	0.00	1.00 (0.81, 1.23)	0.99

Note. Outcome variable (doctor visit) coded as 1 for *yes* and 0 for *no*. Bolded values represent significance with p<0.05 and adjusted for all other predictor variables

The results for Model 2 (whether the participant had to forgo care in the past 12 months), are presented in Table 13. As with Model 1, the model fit chi-square was significant

 $(X^2(19)) = 63.88, p < 0.001)$, indicating that the model was able to discriminate

between participants who did and did not forgo care. The Hosmer-Lemeshow test yielded

a p-value of 0.19, indicating no evidence of lack of fit.

Factors Associated with Forgoing Care in SPD Patients After Adjusting for Predictor Variables (Model 2)

Predictors	Beta	Standard	Wald	Odds Ratio (95%	<i>p</i> -value
		error		confidence interval)	
Clinical Factors					
General Health	0.10	0.08	1.33	0.91 (0.77, 1.10)	0.25
Condition					
Chronic Health	-0.36	0.18	3.88	0.70 (0.49, 0.89)	0.04
Condition					
Mental Health	0.52	0.51	1.04	1.68 (0.62, 4.58)	0.31
Condition					
Access and Quality of					
Care Factors					
Insurance Status	0.13	0.05	7.87	1.13 (1.04, 1.24)	0.005
Source of Health Care	-0.40	0.23	3.12	0.67 (0.43, 1.04)	0.08
Difficulty with Source	0.47	0.18	7.12	1.60 (1.13, 2.25)	0.008
of Health Care					

Predictors	Beta	Standard error	Wald	Odds Ratio (95% confidence interval)	<i>p</i> -value
Sociodemographic					
Factors					
Sex	-0.04	0.18	0.06	0.96 (0.67, 1.36)	0.81
Race					
White (reference)					
Other single race	0.75	0.29	6.53	2.12 (1.19, 3.76)	0.01
American Indian/	0.40	0.41	0.91	1.48 (0.66, 3.32)	0.34
Alaska Native					
Asian	1.47	0.55	7.13	4.34 (1.48, 12.76)	0.008
African American	1.03	0.38	7.45	2.8 (1.34, 5.86)	0.006
More than one race	-0.18	0.31	0.33	0.84 (0.45, 1.54)	0.57
Age	0.01	0.01	4.87	1.01 (1.01, 1.03)	0.03
Marital Status					
Never married (ref)					
Married	0.07	0.25	0.09	1.08 (0.66, 1.75)	0.77
Living with partner	-0.03	0.32	0.01	0.98 (0.52, 1.83)	0.94
Widowed/	0.12	0.23	0.26	1.13 (0.71, 1.78)	0.61
separated/					
divorced					
Education	-0.04	0.05	0.84	0.96 (0.88, 1.05)	0.36
Economic Status	-0.02	0.06	0.10	0.98 (0.88, 1.10)	0.76
English Proficiency	0.02	0.06	0.07	1.02 (0.90, 1.15)	0.80

Note. Outcome variables (forgoing care) coded as 1 for *yes* and 0 for *no*. Bolded values represent significance with p<0.05 and adjusted for all other predictor variables

The results for Model 3 (whether the participant had to delay care in the past 12 months), are presented in Table 14. The model fit chi-square was significant ($X^2(19)$, = 68.62, p < 0.001), which indicates that the model was able to discriminate between participants who did and did not delay care. The Hosmer-Lemeshow test *p*-value was 0.91 indicating no evidence of lack of fit.

Predictors	Beta	Standard	Wald	Odds Ratio (95%	<i>p</i> -value
		error		confidence interval)	
Clinical Factors					
General Health Condition	-0.33	0.08	16.92	0.72 (0.61, 0.84)	0.001
Chronic Health Condition	-0.11	0.18	0.36	0.90 (0.64, 1.27)	0.55
Mental Health Condition	0.16	0.41	0.16	1.18 (0.52, 2.65)	0.69
Access and Quality of					
Care Factors					
Insurance Status	0.02	0.04	0.17	1.02 (0.94, 1.1)	0.68
Source of Health Care	-0.06	0.22	0.06	0.95 (0.61, 1.47)	0.80
Difficulty with Source of	0.57	0.16	12.79	1.77 (1.3, 2.42)	0.001
Health Care					
Sociodemographic					
Factors					
Sex	-0.35	0.17	4.18	0.71 (0.51, 0.99)	0.04
Race					
White (reference)					
Other single race	0.38	0.26	2.14	1.47 (0.88, 2.44)	0.14
American Indian/	-0.42	0.36	1.33	0.66 (0.32, 1.34)	0.25
Alaska Native					
Asian	0.71	0.40	3.20	2.03 (0.93, 4.42)	0.07
African American	-0.01	0.28	0.00	1.00 (0.58, 1.72)	0.99
More than one race	-0.65	0.30	4.62	0.52 (0.29, 0.94)	0.03
Age	0.02	0.01	7.44	1.02 (1.01, 1.03)	0.006
Marital Status					
Never married (ref)					
Married	-0.29	0.23	1.49	0.75 (0.48, 1.19)	0.22
Living with partner	-0.04	0.31	0.02	0.96 (0.53, 1.76)	0.90
Widowed/ separated/	-0.51	0.22	5.60	0.60 (0.40, 0.92)	0.02
Divorced					
Education	-0.03	0.04	0.45	0.97 (0.90, 1.06)	0.50
Economic Status	0.05	0.05	0.94	1.05 (0.95, 1.17)	0.33
English Proficiency	-0.01	0.06	0.04	0.99 (0.88, 1.11)	0.84

Factors Associated with Delaying Care in SPD Patients After Adjusting for Predictor Variables (Model 3)

Note. Outcome variable (delaying care) coded as 1 for *yes* and 0 for *no*. Bolded values represent significance with p<0.05 and adjusted for all other predictor variables

Results for RQ2

RQ2 designed to examine the independent associations between clinical factors (physical health status, mental health status) and help-seeking behaviors in individuals with SPD.

Participants with a chronic health condition had nearly twice the odds of having had a doctor visit than those who did not in multivariable analyses (adjusted odds ratio (aOR) 1.94, 95% confidence interval (CI) [1.08,3.48], p=0.03) (Table 12). The general health condition of the participant and their mental health condition were not significant predictors of a doctor visit in the past 12 months.

Participants with a chronic health condition had lower odds of forgoing care (aOR 0.70, 95% CI [0.49, 0.89], p = 0.04) than those without a chronic health condition (Table 13). Neither the participant's general health condition nor their mental health condition constituted a significant predictor of forgoing care.

The general health condition of participants was significantly associated with delaying care, i.e., those with a general health condition had lower odds of delaying care (aOR 0.7295% CI [0.61, 0.84], p<0.001) (Table 14). The presence of a chronic health condition or a mental health condition (beyond the SPD) was not significantly associated with a tendency to delay care.

Results for RQ3

RQ3 was designed to look at access to and quality of care factors (insurance status, source of health care) to determine whether these factors were independently associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

Those who did not report issues with access to health care had seven times the odds of having had a doctor visit (aOR 6.99, 95% CI [3.77, 12.95], p<0.001) (Table 12). The odds of having a doctor visit among those that had had issues with access to health care were 2.68 times higher than for those who did not (aOR 2.68, 95% CI [1.38, 5.19], p<0.004). Insurance status was not a significant predictor of a doctor visit.

Insurance status and issues with access to health care were significant predictors of forgoing care (Table 13). The odds of forgoing care among those that were not insured was 13% higher than for those that were insured (aOR 1.13, 95% CI [1.04, 1.24], p<0.005). The odds of forgoing care were 1.60 times as high for those who had had issues with access to health care (aOR 1.60, 95% CI [1.13, 2.25], p<0.008). However, those who did not report issues with access to health care were not significantly associated with forgoing care.

Finally, those who had had issues with access to health care had a statistically significant association with delaying care (Table 14). The odds of delaying care were 1.77 times as high for those that had had issues with access to health care than for those who did not (aOR 1.77, 95% CI [1.30, 2.42], p<0.001). Insurance status and source of health care status were not significant predictors of delaying care.

Results for RQ4

RQ4 was designed to examine the independent associations between sociodemographic factors (sex, race, age, marital status, education, economic status, English proficiency) and help-seeking behaviors in individuals with SPD. Marital status was the only sociodemographic predictor that showed significance to doctor visit (Table 12). Those who were married had lower odds of delaying care compared to those who had never married (aOR 0.38, 95% CI [0.16, 0.92], p=0.03). Sex, race, age, education, economic status and English proficiency were not significant predictors of doctor visit.

Race and age were significant predictors of forgoing care (Table 13). Compared to those of White race, those of other single race, Asians, and African Americans had higher odds of forgoing care (aOR 2.12, 95% CI [1.19,3.76], p=0.01; aOR 4.34, 95% CI [1.48,12.76], p=0.008; and, aOR 2.80, 95% CI [1.34, 5.86], p=0.006, respectively). For age, a one-year increase increased the odds of forgoing care about 1% (aOR 1.01, 95% CI [1.01, 1.03], p=0.03). However, sex, marital status, education, economic status, English proficiency of respondents were not significant predictors of forgoing care.

Sex, race, age and marital status were significant predictors of delaying care (Table 14). Females had lower odds than males for delaying care (aOR 0.71, 95% CI [0.51, 0.99], p=0.04). For race, those of more than one race had lower odds than Whites (the reference group) of delaying care 0.52 (0.29, 0.94) (aOR 1.92, 95% CI [1.06, 3.45], p=0.03). Similar to forgoing care, an increase of a year in age increased the chances of delaying care by about 2% (aOR 1.02, 95% CI [1.01, 1.03], p=0.006). Looking at marital status, those who were widowed/ separated/divorced had lower odds of delaying care (aOR 0.60, 95% CI [0.40, 0.92], p=0.02) as those who had never married (the reference group). Education, economic status, English proficiency were not significant predictors of delaying care.

Summary

My purpose in this quantitative, cross-sectional study was the investigation of possible associations between clinical factors, factors of access to and quality of care, and sociodemographic factors and help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD.

I found that those with a general health condition had lower odds of delaying care but their general health did not influence whether they had had a doctor visit or whether they were likely to forgo care. On the other hand, if the participants had a chronic health condition, they had significantly increased odds to have had a doctor visit or to forgo care, but not to delay care. Finally, other mental health condition (i.e., apart from SPD) did not have an impact on any of the help-seeking behavior outcomes.

Whether the respondent had health insurance statistically was significantly associated with whether they would forgo care, but did not influence whether they had had doctor visit or had increased odds to delay care. The respondents' access to health care was statistically significantly associated with whether they had had a doctor visit, but was not associated with whether they had increased odds to forgo care or delay care. Finally, respondents who had had issues with access to health care were statistically significantly higher odds to both delay or forgo care as well as to have had a visit with their doctor (suggesting that perhaps this visit had caused them to be reluctant to go to that doctor again).

With respect to sociodemographic factors, I found that men had higher odds of delaying care than women; however, sex was not associated with whether respondents had a doctor visit, nor whether they had increased odds to forgo care. When compared to their White counterparts, Asians and African Americans had statistically significantly increased odds of forgoing care. Increasing age was statistically associated with forgoing care or delaying care. Those who were married had significantly greater odds of having had a doctor visit than those who were never married; those who were widowed, separated, or divorced had significantly greater odds of delaying care. Neither education, economic status, nor English proficiency of the respondents predicted help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

In Chapter 5, I present my conclusions, including an interpretation of my findings, their relationship to the literature, implications for action, and recommendations for future research.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Previous researchers have attempted to compare help-seeking behaviors and health-related outcomes among those with and without SPD. However, there remains a lack of understanding regarding decisions to seek healthcare made by adults with SPD. Even though the number of individuals with SPD who obtain mental health treatment has increased since the early 1990s, the majority of such individuals remain untreated or undertreated (Krupski et al., 2016; Weissman et al., 2017; Ye et al., 2012). My purpose in this quantitative cross-sectional study was to investigate reasons for seeking or not seeking healthcare among adults with SPD, as potentially indicated by an assessment of possible associations between clinical factors, quality of care, and sociodemographic characteristics.

I found that those with general health conditions had lower odds of delaying care, but their general health did not influence whether they had had a doctor visit or greater odds of forging care. If participants had chronic health conditions, they had significantly increased odds of doctor visits or forgoing care, but not delaying care. Other mental health conditions did not have an impact on help-seeking behavior outcomes.

Respondents' access to healthcare was significantly associated with whether they had had doctor visits, but not associated with whether they had higher odds of forgoing or delaying care. In addition, those who had had issues with access to healthcare were significantly associated with increased delaying or forgoing care as well as visiting with their doctor.

With respect to sociodemographic factors, I found that men had higher odds of delaying care than women; however, sex was not associated with whether respondents had had a doctor visit, nor whether they had higher odds of forgoing care. When compared to their White counterparts, Asians and African American were positively associated with forgoing care. Increasing age was significantly associated with forgoing care or delaying care. Those who were married had significantly greater odds of having had a doctor visit than those who were never married; those who were widowed, separated, or divorced had significantly greater odds of delaying care. Education, economic status, and English proficiency of respondents did not predict help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

In this chapter, I discuss interpretations of my findings, limitations of results, recommendations for future research, implications for social change resulting from my findings.

Interpretation of Findings

As part of my work, I have descriptively characterized individuals with SPD in California and attempted to determine how these characteristics are associated with helpseeking behaviors. I used Mechanic's definition of help-seeking behaviors for psychological distress, which include obtaining resources such as advice, information, support, and assistance from family, friends, and healthcare professionals. I specifically examined whether individuals sought help from healthcare professionals in the previous 12 months, forewent or delayed seeking care. RQ1 was: What are the general help-seeking behaviors of individuals with SPD? As detailed in Chapter 3, I conducted a descriptive statistical analysis of my population for categorical variables as well as measures of central tendency and spread for continuous variables. I attempted to address complex decision-making processes involved in deciding to seek as well as obtain help by assessing interactions with doctors in the previous 12 months. I further classified those who indicated no interaction with any doctor to understand the behavior of those who indicated "no" to having seen a doctor or healthcare professional.

SPD is an important individual and public health burden, but a significant number of individuals do not seek professional help. According to Weissman et al. (2017), even though the number of SPD-affected individuals obtaining mental health treatment has increased since the early 1990s, the majority of such individuals remain untreated or undertreated. Weissmann et al. said compared to adults without SPD, those with SPD were more than twice as likely to experience delays in care. I found that 368 respondents (21.9%) did not obtain care at all, while 588 respondents (35.0%) delayed care for various reasons, including anxiety, fear, and avoidance of medical care and cost. Ye et al. (2012) said stigma and fear of the medical establishment reduced use of healthcare services, and SPD was positively associated with fear of having a serious illness and thoughts of mortality. I was not able to study fear and stigma of the medical establishment in my study, but looked at other factors and found that costs were associated with not obtaining timely care. Increased healthcare use and costs tended to cause respondents to either forgo or delay mental health care.

RQ2- RQ4

For RQ2, I asked: Are clinical factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD? For RQ3, I asked: Are access and quality of care factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD? For RQ4, I asked: Are sociodemographic factors associated with help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD?

To answer these questions, I conducted logistic regression analyses. More specifically, I performed three separate binary logistic regression analyses to examine the association between predictor variables, including clinical factor, access and quality of care factor, and sociodemographic factor variables and three specific help-seeking behaviors (doctor visit, forgoing care, delaying care). Logistic regression models were generated using the enter method, a procedure for variable selection in which all variables are entered in a single step; Model 1 included outcomes of help-seeking behaviors of doctor visits, Model 2 includes outcomes of forgoing care, and Model 3 includes outcomes of delaying care.

I defined individuals with at least one chronic health condition (asthma, diabetes, hypertension, or heart disease) as having a chronic health condition. Results indicated that these individuals had greater odds of having had a doctor visit and lower odds of forgoing care. Individuals with chronic health conditions may have higher odds of using healthcare services and lower odds of forgoing care. Many individuals with chronic health conditions require ongoing care so they may be more aware of understanding and using health literacy to make informed decisions about healthcare planning compared to their counterparts who may have low health insurance literacy and therefore do not use appropriate services (Sartorious, 2013; Smith, Langan, McLean, Guthrie, & Mercer, 2013). Forgoing care may result in unnecessary morbidity or mortality and greater severity of illness, and can be particularly damaging for those with diseases such as asthma, diabetes, and hypertension; diagnosis and treatment during early stages may prevent further complications and prolong survival (Sartorious, 2013; Serrano et al., 2011). Promoting access to high-continuity care is therefore an essential strategy for improving chronic disease care and outcomes.

I also found that those with a general health condition were less prone to delaying care. Respondents who self-reported their health as fair or poor had lower odds of delaying care than those that replied their general health condition to be excellent, very good or good. Delayed care may result in a more serious illness for the patient, a worse prognosis or a longer or avoidable hospital stay, which may all lead to seeking appropriate care in a timely fashion because they want to avoid more complications to their preexisting conditions (Addington, 1999; Brumley et al., 2007; Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2020). However, even if patients self-report their health as fair or poor, difficulty with their source of health care was a significant predictor of the respondents forgoing care or delaying care. According to Shen and Lee (2018), long appointment wait times are emerging as major impediments to a quality patient experience, as nearly one in five patients have switched providers when a wait time has
become too long. The report, based on a survey of nearly 700 patient respondents, included a review of the state of patient wait times between 2008 and 2017. 84% of those respondents stated that a reasonable wait time was somewhat or very important to a quality patient experience (Shen et al., 2018). Patients who reported limited access to care (53%) had higher odds to leave appointments due to a long wait time signifying that positive patient care experiences are generally associated with greater provider adherence to recommended maximum wait times (Shen et al., 2018).

Researchers have also reported an inappropriate use of emergency departments (EDs) for nonemergency conditions. O'Malley (2004) and Tsai et al. (2018) found that an inappropriate use of EDs for nonemergency conditions may also result in less effective preventive care and chronic disease management, as well as higher health care costs, although there is significant debate about how precisely to measure the appropriateness of an ED visit. ED care is more expensive than other types of care, as confirmed by Fay (2019), who reported that the average cost of an ED visit for a common condition such as a sore throat is about \$525 compared to a cost of about \$53 for an office visit. My finding corroborates that of Stockbridge et al. (2014), i.e., that SPD was not associated with increasing numbers of ED visits in individuals with one or more visits. Alhussain et al. (2017) said more than half of adults with multimorbidity and SPD used the ED in the past 12 months, compared to nearly a quarter of adults with multimorbidity and no SPD used the ED in the past 12 months. Patients who visit hospital EDs had problems that could have been managed appropriately in a general primary care practice (Arnett, Thorpe, Gaskin, Bowie, & LaVeist, 2016; Tsai et al., 2018).

I found that 83.3% of individuals in my sample had some primary source of healthcare. I found that the odds of having a doctor visit among those who had issues with access were 2.68 times higher than for those who did not, suggesting that, even with difficulty, if a respondent deemed that he or she needed to be seen by a doctor, then they would see a doctor even if that means seeing a doctor in ED. With a growing number of care options available (a positive step forward for patient care access), such as at a clinic, a micro-hospital, an urgent care center, or numerous other emerging treatment facilities, it is essential that medical providers deliver the proper patient education useful for patients to identify the appropriate facility for their needs.

MacKichan and colleagues (2017) explored patients' decisions about where to seek care, which is a complex, multistage process. Their data supported the findings of previous researchers who noted that perceptions of a mismatch between the patient and provider frequently induce the patient to seek care elsewhere. Furthermore, they demonstrated how the patient's decision to seek care is informed by their cumulative past experience, where seemingly minimal past experiences such as being placed on hold while attempting to schedule an appointment or enduring a lengthy wait for a routine check-up may cause the patient to form a global view of primary healthcare as an inappropriate source of urgent care. This corroborates my finding that, although most participants (83.3%) had a usual source of care other than an ED or had a personal doctor, nearly one-half (48.2%) reported at least some difficulty in accessing care. These participants reported different causes for this problem, including trouble finding a general doctor, having insurance that was not accepted, or being unable to get an appointment in a timely manner.

Many studies have also shown that a timely delivery of appropriate care may reduce the mortality and morbidity associated with a variety of medical conditions, for example, mental health conditions, addiction issues, and kidney disease (Gallucci et al., 2005; Hoffman et al., 2011; Smart and Titus, 2011). Reducing wait times for mental health services is critically important as evidence show that the longer a patient must wait for such services, the greater the likelihood that the patient will miss the appointment (Kehle et al., 2011; Pizer and Prentice, 2011). Patients respond best to mental health services when they first realize that they have a problem (Kenter et al., 2013). But because primary care providers need to refer patients to mental health service specialists, the delayed time from seeing the appropriate provider may worsen one's condition or continue until treated. Thus, long wait times may produce poorer health outcomes and greater financial burdens due to not obtaining care at the intended provider which can increase morbidity or mortality and can decrease the patient's quality of life (Kaplan et al., 2015; Pizer, & Prentice, 2011).

I also found that insurance status was a significant predictor of increasing odds of forgoing care, which may suggest that patients either do not know or do not decide where to go for care until it is too late, as almost 80% of the respondents (942 out of 1,179) indicated their insurance covered mental health visits but only about six percent of the study population (101 out of 1,678) indicated that they utilized the different mental health services. Researchers have also shown that individuals who are covered through

Medicaid or other state insurance programs have increased odds than those with private insurance to be forced to wait more than one month to access services, even for serious medical problems (Bisgaier and Rhodes, 2011; Rhodes et al., 2014). I did not find any significant association between mental health condition apart from SPD (which I defined, as I stated in Chapter 3 using questions on the interference of a respondent's emotions with their work performance, with household chores, with their social life, or with their relationships with family or friends) and having had a doctor visit, forgoing care or delaying care. I also found no association between the existence of a mental health condition besides SPD and either having had a doctor visit, forgoing care and delaying care. I found that a majority of those with a mental health condition besides SPD had had a visit with a doctor (92%) and did not have to forgo care (78%) or delay care (70%).

In terms of sociodemographic factors, marital status constituted a significant predictor for doctor visits. Those who were married had lower odds of delaying care than those who had never married. Married individuals are believed to benefit from a protection and selection effect that leads to better health and greater access (Wood et al., 2007). It is possible that the moderating effects of marriage are more relevant to health prevention and management of poor health. A major survey of 127,545 American adults indicated that married men were healthier than men who were never married or whose marriages ended in divorce or widowhood (Eglitis & Chambliss, 2019). Men with marital partners also lived longer than men without spouses and the longer a man remained married the greater his survival advantage over his unmarried peers (Eglitis et al., 2019). Among the most cited papers looking at mortality differences by marital status was by Gove (2015), who paid particular attention to the adverse mortality outcomes for single men relative to women. Gove (2015) argued that these differences in mortality can be attributed to the patients' characteristics associated with their psychological state (their emotions or feelings). Men living alone have greater odds to be lonely than women living in the same condition (de Jong Gierveld, 2003). Murphy, Grundy and Kalogirou (2017), in their recent cross-national analysis, found that the mortality advantage of married persons continued up to the oldest age groups (85–89) and that the largest absolute differentials in mortality levels between marital statuses were at greater ages. This finding parallel other work which suggests the powerful and pervasive health benefits of marriage at older ages (Pienta et al., 2000, p. 583; Eglitis et al., 2019).

Race was a significant predictor of forgoing care and delaying care. Compared to those of White race, those of other single race, Asians and African Americans had higher odds of forgoing care; however, those of more than one race had lower odds of delaying care than those of White race. According to Braveman and Gottlieb (2014), Black and Latino adults have greater odds of living in disadvantaged neighborhoods which tend to produce lower educational attainment and quality in inadequately resourced schools (Braveman, & Gottlieb, 2014). Although I found that neither education, economic status nor the English proficiency of the respondents were predictive for any of the help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD, we cannot overlook that individuals with lower levels of education have higher odds of having insufficient access to care (Nunes et al., 2014). These factors can also lead to racial and ethnic minorities experiencing higher rates of chronic and disabling illnesses, infectious diseases, and higher mortality than White American.

In the United States, the federal poverty level (or line) is indicated by an annual pre-tax amount of income earned by a household, indexed by household size and age of household members. For example, in 2015, the federal poverty line was \$12,331 for a household comprising a single individual younger than 65 years of age and \$24,036 for a family of four. More than half of my study population had an annual income of less than \$20,000.00 (see Table 8), thus their finances may have caused them to prioritize their physical health (e.g., buying groceries) over their mental health care needs.

Minority populations have more difficulty than the majority population in locating a usual source of medical care; in particular, Black and Hispanic adults report greater difficulty than Whites in obtaining medical care at a consistent location (Braveman et al., 2014; IOM, 2002; AHRQ, 2017). My study also found that when compared to their White counterparts, those who were of the other single race group, Asian or African American were positively associated with forgoing care relative to White American. The recent annual National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report (QDR) provided an overview of the quality of health care received by the U.S. population and highlights continued disparities in care experienced by different racial and socioeconomic groups (AHRQ, 2017). The QDR indicated that disparities were lessening from 2000 through 2014–2015 but that disparities persist, especially for poor and uninsured populations.

Finally, I found that a one-year age increase increased the odds of forgoing care by about 1% and delaying care by about 2%. Contrary to my statistically significant findings, most studies report that aging is associated with an increase in functional limitation and in the prevalence of chronic conditions. As people age, they tend to use more hospital services and prescription medicines. Approximately 25 percent of 18–44 years old reported low back pain compared with 35 percent of people 45–64 years old (Freid et al., 2012; NCHS, 2017). However, most previous analyses were based on general population samples, not specifically persons with SPD, thus the discrepancy may be due to the differences between these groups. It is noteworthy that the relationship between aging (or any correlate of utilization) and overall health care utilization is not a direct one. Increased longevity can be a result of the postponement of disease onset or a steady rate of functional loss (Freid et al.,2012). This discrepancy may bring further insight as to which vital characteristics to focus on when developing initiatives to reach those who forgo, delay, or have trouble accessing care. It also suggests that the influences on help-seeking behavior for individuals with SPD are complex and multifactorial.

Interpretation of Research Questions to the Theoretical Framework

As mentioned in Chapter 2, I used the SEM as the theoretical foundation for my work. The SEM is composed of the complex interplay between individual, relationship, community, and societal factors (Glanz et al., 2008). Including multiple levels of influence can lead to the development of more comprehensive intervention approaches useful in systematically targeting mechanisms of change potentially operating at several levels of influence (Glanz et al., 2008).

For my research, I began with the four critical SEM constructs: individual-level influences that increase the likelihood of people seeking help for their condition,

relationship-level influences that can affect the decision for or against seeking help, community-level factors such as social environments that may influence the decision to seek care, and societal or macro-level factors such as religious beliefs or cultural practices that may influence health action towards or against seeking help for their psychological distress. Since significant and dynamic interrelationships exist between these different levels of health determinants, interventions are likely most effective when they address determinants at all levels.

Although the model contextualizes individuals' behaviors using dimensions such as intrapersonal, community and public policy to provide a framework for describing the interactions between these levels, no one model can describe all risk factors across these diverse domains. Also, the factors can span levels and therefore the boundaries between levels may need to be understood as nondistinctive rather than distinctive. But for the purpose of my paper, with respect to the first level (individual-level influences that may alter the likelihood of help-seeking among individuals with SPD, I found that those with a general health condition (individual-level factor) had lower odds of delaying care but their general health did not influence whether they had had a doctor visit or whether they had higher odds of forgoing care. On the other hand, if the participants had a chronic health condition (relationship-level factor), they had greater odds of having had a doctor visit or forgoing care, but not delaying care. Other mental health conditions (i.e., apart from SPD) did not have an impact on any of the help-seeking behavior outcomes.

The respondents' access to health care (individual-level factor) was statistically significantly associated with whether they had had a doctor visit but was not associated

with whether they had greater odds of forgoing care or delaying care. In addition, those who had had issues with access to health care (community-level factor and societal-level factor) was associated with increased odds of delaying care or forgoing it entirely.

With respect to sociodemographic factors (individual-level factor), I found that men had higher odds of delaying care than women, however, sex was not associated with whether respondents had had a doctor visit nor whether they had greater odds of forgoing care. When compared to their White counterparts, those who were either Asian or African American was associated with increased odds of forgoing care. None of the sociodemographic factors was associated with whether respondents had had a doctor visit. Increasing age was statistically significantly associated with forgoing care or delaying care. Those that were married had significantly greater odds of having had a doctor visit than those who were never married; those who were widowed/ separated/ divorced had significantly greater odds of delaying care. Neither education, economic status nor the English proficiency of the respondents predicted any of the help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

This paper used a model to characterize and visualize the various layers of helpseeking behaviors among individuals with SPD. However, one of the unique challenges of conceptualizing a model in public health is the adjustable nature of these levels. For example, I listed mental health insurance coverage as a social level variable, but since each respondent answered the question with respect to his/her own personal coverage, the variable is with respect to a single person's coverage even though it can be seen at a societal level since there is a connection that a society that does not provide routine mental health coverage can impact the health of any one individual. The flexibility in interpretating the model need to be adapted to better understand the dynamics of help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD.

Limitations of the Study

My study has several limitations. First, because I used data from California, my results may not be generalizable to other states or the US nation as a whole. In the future, a large, nationally representative survey should be conducted to investigate the relationship between patient factors and help-seeking behaviors among adults with SPD. Second, the characteristics that I used as independent variables were based on the literature and items that were available in CHIS 2015 database. Depending on the variables used for different clinical factors, access to and quality of care, and sociodemographic characteristics may result in different findings. For example, I used Mechanic's (2002) definition of help-seeking behaviors for psychological distress as behaviors to obtain various resources such as advice, information, support and assistance from family, friends and health care professionals. Specifically, I explored help-seeking behavior as seeking help from health care professionals. As there are various measures of help-seeking, the lack of standardization makes comparison between studies difficult, future investigators should examine different levels of help-seeking behavior that may help explain the association between different patient factors.

Third, CHIS data are self-reported, not clinically validated and as such are subject to recall and social desirability biases. For example, due to the stigma associated with mental disorders, people who actually had SPD may not have responded accurately to the questions comprising the K6 scale (thus reducing my effective sample size or altering the strength of the associations I found by indicating possibly spuriously that they felt better than they actually did) or may have been excluded from the study due to missing data on these questions. This self-reported data can also be influenced by recall bias which can lead to informational content being over or under reported by study participants (Shokara, Vernon, & Carlson, 2011). Further, participants may also underreport any problems they may experience due to social desirability bias (Beck, Guignard, & Legleye, 2014; Lofters, Moineddin, Hwang, & Glazier 2011). As I intended my analysis primarily to document general associations rather than to determine causality, any underreporting or overreporting could have skewed the associations I examined.

Recommendations

Based on my findings, it is imperative to highlight the concept of a holistic approach in understanding help-seeking behavior in individuals with SPD. Seeking help in a timely manner can positively impact the delivery of health care as well as its effects, thus enhance individual wellbeing. I investigated the reasons (as indicated by clinical, care-related, and sociodemographic factors) for seeking (or not seeking) health care in adults with SPD.

Barriers that prevent people from seeking help were manifold. Some specific barriers to seeking professional help for their condition included stigma, unavailability of resources with which to seek help, a lack of awareness about SPD, a lack of knowledge as to how to seek help, a lack of support from others to seek help, and fear concerning the help they might receive (Beck et al., 2014; Freid et al., 2012; Johnson et al., 2020; NCHS, 2017; Weissman et al., 2017). Some of the other, albeit infrequently reported, barriers include financial and time constraints and fear about the side effects of medication. Clement, Schauman and Graham (2015) indicated that treatment-related stigma tended to diminish efforts at help-seeking and issues related to disclosure were a common concern. Self-reliance was reported by participants in a National Comorbidity Survey as a major reason to drop out of treatment or to not seek help (Mojtabai et al., 2011). Although the economic status of the respondents did not predict any of the helpseeking behaviors among individuals with SPD in my study, concerns relating to money and time have been commonly reported in previous studies (Johnson et al., 2020; Salaheddin & Mason, 2016). This suggests that the treatment gap can be reduced by increasing the number of trained mental health professionals available for service delivery, deepening the involvement of non-specialist care providers in mental health settings, and eliciting the active participation of people affected by mental disorders. In turn, decreasing the treatment gap will highlight more accessible and user-friendly services.

Johnson and colleagues (2020) found that services provided in a communitybased well-being center instead of a crowded hospital setting was a significant factor that encouraged continued engagement with mental health services. The community-based well-being center offered easy access to interventions and a short waiting time in a pleasant, less crowded outpatient care environment. All these factors contributed to higher user satisfaction, de-stigmatization, and reiterate the need for organization of mental health services in a user-friendly manner (Johnson et al., 2020). As mentioned, I only examined seeking help from medical professionals. There is a dearth of studies assessing support from family members and friends as an important enabler to professional help-seeking. Eglitis and Chambliss (2019) used a qualitative approach to determine that family support and supportive interactions help patients to understand the emotional concerns that their family members hold, which further motivate the patients to seek help. Social support, therefore, may act as a deterrent or facilitator for the decision about or the pursuit of mental health services, depending on the need of the distressed individual and the type or quality of family support available.

Finally, in this era of technology (and especially during the current pandemic), digital platforms may be a useful means for reaching out to individuals with SPD who are unwilling to seek face-to-face help (due to situational or personal barriers) provided by medical professionals. Johnson et al. (2020) found that individualized feedback and various other proposed components were perceived as likely to be useful in breaking barriers to seeking professional help. As a result, future investigators can examine whether the use of digital platforms reduce the barriers to seeking professional help among individuals with SPD.

Implications for Social Change

My results have positive social change implications for health and clinical practice. Health intervention developers, educators, psychiatrists, psychologists, physicians, nurses and other clinicians may find my findings useful in the creation and utilization of holistic interventions intended to improve help-seeking behaviors among individuals with SPD. Progression of SPD may be delayed and complications relating to SPD may likely be prevented, thereby benefitting patients and their families through reduced financial burden, decreased morbidity and lessened mortality. In a larger spectrum, managing patients' SPD will have a positive effect on health care payers and the entire society.

In addition, my findings may help to identify groups at greater risk for SPD thus should enable better targeting of interventions. The SEM model of help-seeking behavior for individuals with SPD provides a potentially comprehensive framework for organizing risk and protective factor knowledge. By delivering a multi-level approach, researchers can provide a framework to understand how upper-level factors may moderate the influence of lower-level factors and vice versa. My statistical model identifies statistically significant factors that can be tracked over time in the population. Data about these characteristics are easily available to public health departments, healthcare providers and stakeholders with an interest in developing intervention programs. By being able to identify those at risk early on providers could potentially reduce the frequency of subsequent complications in their patients, which would prove useful in testing targeted strategies for optimizing utilization and reducing the barriers to quality healthcare among those with SPD.

Conclusion

The scientific body of evidence I and others have presented illustrates the importance of seeking help in a timely manner for individuals with SPD. To promote positive health outcomes and prevent disease, it is important to devise optimal intervention programs that incorporate factors associated with healthcare seeking decisions by adults with SPD. The pursuit of a better understanding of the impact of helpseeking behaviors among individuals with SPD and its association with clinical factors, healthcare-related factors, and sociodemographic factors is essential for promoting positive health outcomes and preventing disease.

References

- Addington, W. (1999). No health insurance? It's enough to make you sick- Scientific research linking the lack of health coverage to poor health. Retrieved from https://www.acponline.org/acp_policy/policies/no_health_insurance_scientific_re search_linking_lack_of_health_coverage_to_poor_health_1999.pdf
- Agresti, A. (2007). *An introduction to categorical data analysis* (2nd ed.). New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Alhussain, K., Meraya, A., & Sambamoorthi, U. (2017). Serious psychological distress and emergency room use among adults with multimorbidity in the United States. *Psychiatry Journal*, 2017, 1-8. doi: 10.1155/2017/8565186.
- Allison, P. (2019). *Measures of fit for logistic regression*. Retrieved from https://support.sas.com/resources/papers/proceedings14/1485-2014.pdf
- Altamura, A., Dell'osso, B., D'Urso, N., Russo, M., Fumagalli, S., & Mundo, E. (2008).
 Duration of untreated illness as a predictor of treatment response and clinical course in generalized anxiety disorder. *CNS Spectrums*, *13*, 415–422.
 doi: 10.1017/s1092852900016588.
- Arnett, M. J., Thorpe, R. J., Jr, Gaskin, D. J., Bowie, J. V., & LaVeist, T. A. (2016).
 Race, Medical Mistrust, and Segregation in Primary Care as Usual Source of
 Care: Findings from the Exploring Health Disparities in Integrated Communities
 Study. *Journal of urban health : bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 93(3), 456–467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-016-0054-9

- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thoughts and action: A social cognitive theory.Englewood Cllifs.
- Baral, S., Logie, C., Grosso, A., Wirtz, A., & Beyrer, C. (2013). Modified social ecological model: A tool to guide the assessment of the risks and risk contexts of HIV epidemics. *BMC Public Health*, *13*, 482-491. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-482
- Barnes, P. (1998). Anti-inflammatory actions of glucocorticoids: Molecular mechanisms. Clin Sci (Lond), 94(6), 557-572.
- Braveman, P., & Gottlieb, L. (2014). The social determinants of health: it's time to consider the causes of the causes. *Public health reports (Washington, D.C. :* 1974), 129 Suppl 2(Suppl 2), 19–31.

https://doi.org/10.1177/00333549141291S206

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist*, *32*(7), 513-531.
- Brumley, R., Enguidanos, S., Jamison, P., ... Gonzalez, J. (2007). Increased satisfaction with care and lower costs: Results of a randomized trial of in-home palliative care. J Am Geriatric Soc. 55:993-1000.
- Byles, J., Robinson, I., Banks, E., Gibson, R., Leigh, L., Rodgers, B.,... Jorm, L. (2013).
 Psychological distress and comorbid physical conditions: Disease or disability?
 Depression and Anxiety, 31(6), 146-151.
- California Health Interview Survey (CHIS). (2017). CHIS 2015-2016 Methodology Reports. UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. Los Angeles, CA: October

- California Health Interview Survey (CHIS). (2018). CHIS 2015 Adult Survey. UCLA Center for Health Policy Research. Los Angeles, CA: October 2018.
- Carson V., & Janssen, I. (2012). Associations between factors within the home setting and screen time among children aged 0-5 years: A cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health, 12, 539-544.
- Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality (CBHSQ). (2015). Behavioral health trends in the United States: Results from the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. (HHS Publication No. SMA 15-4927, NSDUH Series H-50). Retrieved from http://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-FRR1-2014/NSDUH-FRR1-2014.htm
- Chapman, D., Perry, G., & Strine, T. (2005). The vital link between chronic disease and depressive disorders. *Prev Chronic Dis*, 2(1), A14.
- Chiu, M., Amartey, A., Wang, X., & Kurdyak, P. (2018). Ethnic differences in mental health status and service utilization: A population-based study in Ontario, Canada. *Can J Psychiatry*, 63(7), 481-491.
- Choi, J., Miller, A., & Wilbur, J.(2009). Acculturation and depressive symptoms in
 Korean immigrant women. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 11(1), 1319.
- Christensen, J., Vestergaard, M., Mortensen, P., Sidenius, P., & Agerbo, E. (2007).
 Epilepsy and risk of suicide: A population-based case-control study. *Lancet Neurol*, 6(8), 693-698.

- Cohen, D., Scribner, R., & Farley, T. (2000). A structural model of health behavior: A pragmatic approach to explain and influence health behaviors at the population level. *Prev Med*, *30*(2), 146-154.
- Cornally, N., & McCarthy, G. (2011). Help-seeking behavior for the treatment of chronic pain. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, *17*, 280–288.
- Costanzo, Lutgendorf, Sood, Anderson, Sorosky, & Lubaroff. (2005). Psychosocial factors and interleukin-6 among women with advanced ovarian cancer. *Cancer*, *104*(2), 305-313.
- Creswell, J. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- de Jong Gierveld J. (2003). Social networks and social well-being of older men and women living alone. In: Arber S., Davidson K., Ginn J., editors. *Gender and ageing: changing roles and relationships*. Open University Press; Maidenhead: 2003. pp. 95–110.
- Dhingra, S., Zack, M., Strine, T., Pearson, W., & Balluz, L. (2010). Determining prevalence and correlates of psychiatric treatment with Andersen's behavioral model of health services use. *Psychiatric Services*, 61(5), 524-528.

Dickerson, F., McNary, S., Brown, C., Kreyembuhl, J., Goldberg, R., & Dixon, L.
(2003). Somatic healthcare utilization among adults with serious mental illness
who are receiving community psychiatric services. *Medical Care*, 41(4), 560-570.

Dismuke, C., & Egede, L. (2011). Association of serious psychological distress with health services expenditures and utilization in a national sample of US adults.

General Hospital Psychiatry, 33, 311-317.

- Druss, B., Zho, L., Von Esenwein, S., Morrato, E., & Marcus, S. (2011). Understanding excess mortality in persons with mental illness: 17-year follow up of a nationally representative US Survey. *Med Care*, 49(6), 599-604.
- Egede, L., & Dismuke, C. (2012). Serious psychological distress and diabetes: A review of the literature. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, *14*(*1*),15-22.
- Eglitis, D., & Chambliss, W. (2019). Discover Sociology: Core concepts. SAGE.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160.
- Flay, B., & Petraitis, J. (1994). The theory of triadic influence: A new theory of health behavior with implications for preventive interventions. *Advances in Medical Sociology*, 4, 19-44.
- Fogarty, C., Sharma, S., Chetty, V., & Culpepper, L. (2008). Mental health conditions are associated with increased health care utilization among urban family medicine patients. *Journal of American Board Family Medicine*, 21(5), 398-407.

Forman-Hoffman, V., Muhuri, P., Novak, S., Pemberton, M., Ault, K., & Mannix, D. (2014). Psychological distress and mortality among adults in the U.S. household population. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/CBHSQ-DR-C11-MI-Mortality-2014/CBHSQ-DR-C11-MI-Mortality-2014.htm

- Garfield R.,, Zuvekas S., Lave J., & Donohue, J. (2011). The impact of national health care reform on adults with severe mental disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry 168*, 486–494.
- Gill, S., Butterworth, P., Rodgers, B., & Mackinnon, A. (2007). Validity of the mental health component scale of the 12-item Short-Form Health Survey (MCS-12) as measure of common mental disorders in the general population. *Psychiatry Research*, 152(1), 63-71.
- Glanz, Rimer, & Viswantha, K. (2008). *Health behavior and health education theory, research and practice* (4th ed). John Wiley & Sons.
- Goldney, R., Ruffin, R., Fisher, L., & Wilson, D. (2003). Asthma symptoms associated with depression and lower quality of life: A population survey. *Med J Aust*, 178(9), 437-441.
- Hamilton, S., Pinfold, V., Cotney, J., Couperthwaite, L., Matthews, J., Barret, K.,
 Warren, S., Corker, E., Rose, D., Thornicroft, G., & Henderson, C. (2016).
 Qualitative analysis of mental health service users' reported experiences of
 discrimination. *Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *134 Suppl 446*(Suppl Suppl 446),
 14–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.12611
- Han, B., Kott, P., Hughes, A., McKeon, R., Blanco, C., & Compton, W. (2016).
 Estimating the rates of deaths by suicide among adults who attempt suicide in the United States. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 77, 125-133.
- Health Service Executive. (2017). National office for suicide prevention: Annual Report 2017. Retrieved from https://www.healthpromotion.ie/hp-

files/docs/HSP01201.pdf

- Horwitz, A. (2017). Social context, biology, and the definition of disorder. *Journal of Health Soc Behav*, 58(2), 131-145.
- Hosmer, D., & Lemeshow, S. (1980). A goodness-of-fit test for the multiple logistic regression model. *Communications in Statistics*, *A10*, 1043-1069.
- Hosmer, D. & Lemeshow, S. (2000). *Applied logistic regression* (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Hsieh, F., Bioch, D., & Larsen, M. (1998). A simple method of sample size calculation for linear and logistic regression. *Stat Med*, 17(14), 1624-1634.
- Jang, Y., & Chiriboga, D. (2011). Social activity and depressive symptoms in Korean American older adults: The conditioning role of acculturation. *Journal of Aging* and Health, 23(5), 767-781.
- Joseph, D., & Whirledge, S. (2017). Stress and the HPA Axis: Balancing homeostasis and fertility. *Int J Mol Sci*, *18*(10), 1-16.
- Kang, S., Domanski, M. D., & Moon, S. S. (2009). Ethnic enclave resources and predictors of depression among Arizona's Korean immigrant elders. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 52(5), 489-502.
- Kaplan, G., Lopez, M., & McGinnis, J. (2015). Transforming health care scheduling and access: Getting to now. Institute of Medicine.
- Keller, M., & Boland, R. (1998). Implications of failing to achieve successful long-term maintenance treatment of recurrent unipolar major depression. *Biol Psychiatry*, 44(5), 348-360.

Klein, R., & Schoenborn, C. (2001). Age adjustment using the 2000 projected U.S.

population. Healthy People 2010 Statistical Notes, no 20. Hyattsville, MD: National Center for Health Statistics.

- Kessler, R., Andrews, G., Colpec, L., Hiripi, E., Mroczek, D., Normand, S., ... Zaslavsky, A. (2002). Short screening scales to monitor population prevalence and trends in non-specific psychological distress. *Psychological Medicine*, 32, 959-976.
- Kessler, R., Barker, P., Colpe, L., Epstein, J., Gfroerer, J., Hiripi, E., ... Zaslavsky, A.. (2003). Screening for serious mental illness in the general population. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 60,184–189.
- Kessler, R., Green, J., Gruber, M., Sampson, N., Bromet, E., Cuitan, M., ... Zaslavsky,
 A. (2010). Screening for serious mental illness in the general population with the
 K6 screening scale: results from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) survey
 initiative. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res*, 19(Suppl 1), 4–22.
- Kirmayer, L., Narasiah, L., Munoz, M., Rashid, M., Ryder, A., Guzder, J., ... Pottie, K. (2011). Common mental health problems in immigrants and refugees: general approach in primary care. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 183(12), E959-E967.
- Knaak, S., Mantler, E., & Szeto, A. (2017). Mental illness-related stigma in healthcare. *Healthcare Management Forum*. 30(2):111-116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0840470416679413
- Krupski, A., West, I., Scharf, D., Hopfenbeck, J., Andrus, G., Joesch, J., ..., Snowden,M. (2016). Integrating primary care into community mental health centers: Impact

of utilization and cost of health care. Psychiatric Services, 67 (11), 1233-1239.

- Kuo, T. (2019). Supplemental nutritional assistance program education in Los Angeles
 County: Lessons and observations from the field, 2013-2016. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 15, 1-12.
- Lanoye, A., Stewart, K., Rybarczyk, B., Auerbach, S., Sadock, E., Aggarwal, A., ..., Austin, K. (2016). The impact of integrate psychological services in a safety net primary care clinic on medical utilization. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 73(6), 681-692.
- Lee, K., & Hwang, M. (2014). Private religious practice, spiritual coping, social support, and health status among older Korean adult immigrants. Soc Work Public Health, 29(5), 428-443.
- Leykin, Y., Dunn, L., & Muñoz, R. (2017). The effect of depression on the decision to join a clinical trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 85(7), 751-756.
- Lutgendorf, S., Sood, A., & Antoni, M. (2010). Host factors and cancer progression:
 Biobehavioral signaling pathways and interventions. *J Clin Oncol*, 28(26), 4094-4099.
- Mackenbach, J., Bopp, M., Deboosere, P., Kovac, K., Leinsalu, M., Martikainen, P., ...Gelder, R. (2017). Determinants of the magnitude of socioeconomic inequalities in mortality: A study of 17 European countries. *Health & Place*, 47, 44-53.
- MacKichan, F., Brangan, E., Wye, L., ... Purdy, S. (2017). Why do patients seek primary medical care in emergency departments? An ethnographic exploration of access to

general practice. BMJ Open;7:e013816.

- Mancuso, C., Rincon, M., McCulloch, C., & Charlson, M. (2001). Self-efficacy, depressive symptoms, and patients' expectations predict outcomes in asthma. *Med Care*, 39(12), 1326-1338.
- Maxwell, J. (1992). Understanding and validity in qualitative research. *Harvard Educational Review*, 62(3), 279-300.
- McLeroy, K., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education Quarterly*, *15*(*4*), 351-377.
- Mechanic, D. (2002). Removing barriers to care among persons with psychiatric symptoms. *Health Aff*, 21(3), 137-147.
- Mickalide, A. (1997). Threats to measurement validity in elf reported data can be overcome. *Injury Prevention*, 3, 7-8.
- Miller, A. M., Sorokin, O., Wang, E., Feetham, S., Choi, M., & Wilbur, J. (2006). Acculturation, social alienation, and depressed mood in midlife women from the former Soviet Union. *Research in nursing & health*, 29(2), 134-146.
- Mitchell, C., & Beals, J. (2011) The utility of the Kessler screening scale for psychological distress (K6) in two American Indian communities. *Psychol Assess*, 23(3), 752-761.
- Miroswky, J., & Ross, C. (2002). Depression, parenthood, and age at first birth. *Soc Sci Med*, *54*(8), 1281-1298.
- Mojtabai, R., Olfson, M., & Mechanic, D. (2002). Perceived need and help-seeking in adults with mood, anxiety, or substance use disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*, *59*(1),

77-84.

- Mui, A., & Kang, S. (2006). Acculturation stress and depression among Asian immigrant elders. Social Work, 51(3), 243-255.
- Mulder, R. (2008). An epidemic of depression or the medicalization of distress? Perspectives in Biology and Medicine, 51(2), 238-250.
- Munck, A., Guyre, P., & Holbrook, N. (1984). Physiological functions of glucocorticoids in stress and their relation to pharmacological actions. *Endocr Rev*, *5*(*1*), 25-44.
- Murphy, M., Grundy, E., & Kalogirou, S. (2007). The increase in marital status
 differences in mortality up to the oldest age in seven European countries, 1990–
 99. *Population Studies*.61(3):287–298.
- National Center for Health Statistics (US). (2017). *Health, United States, 2016: With Chartbook on Long-term Trends in Health*. Hyattsville.
- Norman, I., & Ryrie, I. (2013). *The art and science of mental health nursing: Principles and practice* (3rd edition). United Kingdom: Open University Press.
- Oakley, R., & Cidlowski, J. (2013). The biology of the glucocorticoid receptor: New signaling mechanisms in health and disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 132(5), 1033-1044.
- O'Campo, P., Wheaton, B., Nisenbaum, R., Glazier, R., Dunn, J., & Chambers, C. (2015). The neighborhood effects on health and well-being (NEHW) study. *Health Place*, *31*, 65-74.
- Oraka, E., Kim, H., King, M., & Callahan, D. (2012). Asthma prevalence among US elderly by age groups: Age still matters. *J Asthma*, 49(6), 593-599.

Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. (1986). *First international conference on health promotion*. Retrieved from

https://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/

- Overman, R., Yeh, J., & Deal, C. (2013). Prevalence of oral glucocorticoid usage in the United States: A general population perspective. *Arthritis Care Res*, 65(2), 294-298.
- Pathway Medicine. (2017). *Hypothalamic pituitary coordination*. Retrieved from http://www.pathwaymedicine.org/basic-hypothalamic-pituitary-coordination
- Pearlin, L. I. (1989). The sociological study of stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *30*(*3*), 241-256.
- Piatt, E., Munetz., M., & Ritter, C. (2010). An examination of premature mortality among decedents with serious mental illness and those in the general population. *Psychiatr Service*, 61(7), 663-668.
- Pienta, A., Hayward, M., Rahrig, J. (2000). Health consequences of marriage for the retirement years. *Journal of Family Issues*. 21(5):559–586.
- Pizer, S. D., & Prentice, J. C. (2011). What are the consequences of waiting for health care in the veteran population?. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 26 Suppl 2(Suppl 2), 676–682. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-011-1819-1
- Pratt L., Dey A., & Cohen A. (2007). Characteristics of adults with serious psychological distress as measured by the K6 scale: United States, 2001–2004. Adv Data, 30(382),1–18.
- Pratt, L. (2009). Serious psychological distress, as measured by the K6, and mortality.

Ann Epidemiol, 19(3), 202–209.

- Pratt, L. (2012). Characteristics of adults with serious mental illness in the United States household population in 2007. *Psychiatric Services*, *63 (10)*, 1042-1046.
- Prochaska, J., Sung, H., Max, W., Shi, Y., & Ong, M. (2012). Validity study of the K6 scale as a measure of moderate mental distress based on mental health treatment need and utilization. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res*, 21(2), 88-97.
- Purdue Online Writing Lab. (2021). *APA Style (7th edition)*. Retrieved from https://owl.purdue.edu/owl/research_and_citation/apa_style/apa_style_introductio n.html
- Rai, D., Skapinakis, P., Wiles, N., Lewis, G., & Araya, R. (2010). Common mental disorders, subthreshold symptoms and disability: Longitudinal study. *Br J Psychiatry*, 197(5), 411-412.
- Rai, D., Kosidou, K., Lundberg, M., Araya, R., Lewis, G., & Magnusson, C. (2012).
 Psychological distress and risk of long-term disability: Population-based
 longitudinal study. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 66(7), 586-592.
- Ridner, S. (2004). Psychological distress: concept analysis. *Journal of advanced nursing*, *45*(5), 536-545.
- Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. (2020). Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Retrieved from https://www.rwjf.org/
- Salaheddin, K., & Mason, B. (2016). Identifying barriers to mental health helpseeking among young adults in the UK: a cross-sectional survey. *British*

Journal of General Practice. 66(651): e686e692.

- Sallis, J., Owen, N., & Fisher, E. (2008). Ecological Models of Health Behavior. Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice. Edited by Glanz K, Rimer B and Viswanath K. United States: Jossey-Bass. 465-482.
- Sapolsky, R., Romero, L., & Munck, A. (2000). How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. *Endocr Rev*, 21(1), 55-89.
- Sartorious, N. (2013). Comorbidity of mental and physical diseases: a main challenge for medicine of the 21st century. *Shanghai archives of psychiatry*. 25(2), 68-69. https://doi.org/10.3969/j.issn.1002-0829.2013.02.002
- Schuurhuizen, C., Braamse, A., Beekman, A., Cuijpers, P., Van Der Linden, M.,
 Hoogendoorn, A., ..., Dekker, J. (2018). Screening and stepped care
 targeting psychological distress in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer:
 The TES cluster randomized trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 17(8), 267-279.
- Seltman, H. (2018). *Experimental design and analysis*. Retrieved from http://www.stat.cmu.edu/~hseltman/309/Book/Book.pdf
- Stockbridge, E., Wilson, F., & Pagan, J. (2014). Psychological distress and emergency department utilization in the United States: Evidence from the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey. *Academic Emergency Medicine*. 21:510-519. doi:10.1111/acem.12369.

Trochim, W. (2006). Measurement. Retrieved from

http://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/measure.php

- Serrano, C., Setani, K., Sakamoto, E., Andrei, A., & Fraguas, R. (2011). Association between depression and development of coronary artery disease:
 Pathophysiologic and diagnostic implications. *Vasc Health Risk Manag*, 7, 159-164.
- Shen, Y., & Lee, L. (2018). Improving the wait time to consultation at the emergency department. *BMJ Open Quality Journal*. 7(1):e000131.
- Shih, M., & Simon, P. (2008). Health-related quality of life among adults with serious psychological distress and chronic medical conditions. *Quality of Life Research*, 17(4), 521–528.
- Shin, J. (2014). Living independently as an ethnic minority elder: A relational perspective on the issues of aging and ethnic minorities. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 53, 433 -446.
- Smith, K., Monti, D., Mir, N. Peters, E., Tipirneni, R., & Politi, M. (2018). Access is necessary but not sufficient: Factors influencing delay and avoidance of health care services. *MDM policy & practice*, 3(1), 2381468318760298. https://doi.org/10.1177/2381468318760298
- Sperandei, S. (2014). Understanding logistic regression analysis. *Biochem Med*, 24(1), 12-18.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (2013). *Results from the 2012 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Mental health findings NSDUH Series H-47*. University Press.

- Swartz, J., & Jantz, I. (2014). Association between nonspecific severe psychological distress as an indicator of serious mental illness and increasing levels of medical multimorbidity. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(12), 2350-2358.
- Tanji, F., Sugawara, Y., Tomata, Y., Watanabe, T., Sugiyama, K., Kaiho, Y., ...Tsuji, I.
 (2017). Psychological distress and the incident risk of functional disability in elderly survivors after the Great East Japan Earthquake. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 221, 145-150.
- Tsai, M., Xirasagar, S., Carroll, S., ...Jauch, E. (2018). Reducing high-users' visits to the emergency department by a primary care intervention for the uninsured: a retrospective study. *Inquiry: a journal of medical care organization, provision* and financing, 55, 46958018763917.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2021). *Healthy People 2030*. Retrieved from https://www.healthypeople.gov/
- U.C.L.A. Institute for Digital Research & Education. (2019). *Introduction to SAS*. Retrieved from https://stats.idre.ucla.edu
- Vilena, A., & Chesla, C. (2010). Challenges and struggles: Lived experiences of individuals with co-occurring disorders. Arch Psychiatr Nurs, 24(2), 76-88.
- Wade, J., Hart. R., Wade, J., Bajaj, J., & Price, D. (2013). The relationship between marital status and psychological resilience. *Pain Research and Treatment*, 1-8.
- Wakefield, J., Schmitz, M., First, M., & Horwitz, A. (2007). Extending the bereavement exclusion for major depression to other losses: Evidence from the

National Comorbidity Survey. Archives of General Psychiatry, 64(4), 433-440.

- Wellings, K., Collumbien, M., Slayermaker, E., [...] Bajos, N. (2006). Sexual behavior in context: a global perspective. Lancet, 368 (9548), 1706-1728.
- Weissman, J., Pratt, L., Miller, E., & Parker. J. (2015). Serious psychological distress among adults: United States, 2009-2013. NCHS Data Brief, 203, 1-8.
- Weissman, J., Russell, D., Beasley, J., Jay, M., & Malaspina, D. (2016). Relationship between adult emotional states and indicators of health care utilization: Findings from the National Health Interview Survey, 2006-2014. *J Psychosom Res*, 91:75-81. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.10.010.
- Weissman, J., Russell, D., Jay, M., Beasley, J., Malaspina, D., & Pegus, C. (2017).
 Disaparities in health care utilization and functional limitations among adults with serious psychological distress, 2006-2014. *Psychiatry Services*, 68 (7), 653-659.
- Wheaton, B. (2007). The twain meet: Distress, disorder and the continuing conundrum of categories (comment on Horwitz). Health: An Interdisciplinary Journal for the Social Study of Health, Illness and Medicine, 11(3), 303-319
- Wilson, T. (2010). Fifty years of information behavior research. Bulletin of the American Society for Information Science and Technology. Special Section: 2009 Annual Meeting Coverage.
- Winter, G. (2000). A comparative discussion of the notion of 'validity' in qualitative and quantitative research. Retreived from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR4-3/winter.html)

Xie, Z., & Or, C. (2017). Associations Between Waiting Times, Service Times, and

Patient Satisfaction in an Endocrinology Outpatient Department: A Time Study and Questionnaire Survey. *Inquiry: a journal of medical care organization, provision and financing*, *54*, 46958017739527. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958017739527

- Ye, J., Shim, R., & Rust, G. (2012). Health care avoidance among people with serious psychological distress: Analyses of 2007 health information national trends survey. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*. 23, 1620-1629.
- Zabora, J., BrintzenhofeSzoc, K., Curbow, B., Hooker, C., & Piantadosi, S. (2001). The prevalence of psychological distress by cancer site. *Psychooncology*, 10(1), 19-28.
- Zahn, E., & Wyn, R. (2012). Over one million adult women in California report serious psychological distress during the past year. Retrieved from http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/publications/search/pages/detail.aspx?PubID=858